GRAY, HARRIS & ROBINSON

J. CHARLES GRAY
GORDON H. HARRIS
RICHARD M. ROBINSON
PHILLIP R. FINCH
PAMELA O. PRICE
JAMES F. PAGE, JR.
WILLIAM A. BOYLES
THOMAS A. CLOUD
BYRD F. MARSHALL, JR.
J. MASON WILLIAMS, III
LEO P. ROCK, JR.
G. ROBERTSON DILG
CHARLES W. SELL G. ROBERTSON DILG
CHARLES W. SELL
JACK A. KIRSCHENBAUM
RICHARD E. BURKE
GUY S. HAGGARD
FREDERICK W. LEONHARDT
BORRON J. OWEN, JR.
MICHAEL K. WILSON
FEFEREY D. KEINER JEFFREY D. KEINER PAUL S. QUINN, JR. DAVID L. SCHICK JACK K. McMULLEN SUSAN T. SPRADLEY MICHAEL E. NEUKAMM DONALD A. NOHRR PHILIP F. NOHRR WILLIAM G. BOLTIN, III WILLIAM G. BOLTIN, II R. LEE BENNETT TRACY A. MARSHALL JOHN A. KIRST, JR. WILBUR E. BREWTON KENNETH J. PLANTE

PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

SUITE 250

225 SOUTH ADAMS STREET POST OFFICE BOX 11189

TALLAHASSEE, FL 32302-3189

TELEPHONE (850) 222-7717 FAX (850) 222-3494

April 29, 1999

MICHAEL E. WRIGHT WILLIAM A. GRIMM
KENT L. HIPP
DONALD H. GIBSON
ALISON M. YURKO
THEODORE L. SHINKLE
JOHN M. BRENNAN
SCOTT W. SPRADLEY

KIMBERLY NOWORYTA SUNNER BRUCE M. HARRIS BRUCE M. HARRIS
R. DEAN CANNON, JR.
FRANK A. HAMNER
RICHARD A. RODGERS
KELLY M. FITZGERALD
KELLY BREWTON PLANTE J. SCOTT SIMS CATHERINE M. PECK LORI T. MILVAIN LORI T. MILVAIN
MATTHEW S. SMITH
CHRISTINE A. NOWORYTA
W. CHRISTOPHER BROWDER
MARTHA H. MGINTOSH
LISA A. SPECHT GREGORY W. MEIER GREGORY W. GLASS

OF COUNSEL MALCOLM R. KIRSCHENBAUM SYDNEY L. JACKOWITZ LILA INGATE MCHENRY MICHAEL J. CANAN

Division of Corporations George Firestone Building 409 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 ATTENTION: Ms. Susan Payne

Via Hand Delivery

100002857991--9 -04/30/99--01046--023_ *****78.75 *****78.75

Dear Ms. Payne:

Enclosed for filing, please find the ARTICLES OF MERGER, along with a check for the requisite filing fees and fees to obtain a CERTIFIED COPY of the Articles of Merger for the following entity:

Autonomous Technologies Corporation Document Number: H68629

Thank you for your assistance in this matter.

Very truly yours,

KBP/amc

Enclosures GHRCORP/GHR.86 Peck/135025-27

MELBOURNE (407) 727-8100

ORLANDO (407) 843-8880

TALLAHASSEE (850) 222-7717

ARTICLES OF MERGER Merger Sheet MERGING: AUTONOMOUS TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION, a FL corp., H68629 INTO ALPINE ACQUISITION CORP.. a Delaware corporation not qualified in Florida

File date: April 29, 1999

Corporate Specialist: Susan Payne

FILED

ARTICLES OF MERGER

99 APR 29 AM 9: 07

OF

SECRETARY OF STATE TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

AUTONOMOUS TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION a Florida corporation

WITH AND INTO

ALPINE ACQUISITION CORP. a Delaware corporation

To the Department of State State of Florida

Pursuant to the Provisions of the Florida Business Corporation Act, the domestic business corporation and the foreign merger sub business corporation herein named do hereby adopt the following articles of merger.

- 1. Annexed hereto as Exhibit A and made a part hereof is the Agreement and Plan of Merger for merging the Florida Corporation with and into Alpine Acquisition Corp. as unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Florida Corporation on October 1, 1998 and adopted by the unanimous written consent of the Board of Directors of Alpine Acquisition Corp. October 1, 1998.
- 2. The merger of the Florida Corporation with and into Alpine Acquisition Corp. is permitted by laws of the State of Delaware and has been authorized in compliance with said laws.
- 3. The Agreement and Plan of Merger was approved by the unanimous written consent of Summit Technology, Inc., the sole stockholder of Alpine Acquisition Corp., on October 1, 1998.
- 4. Notice of a Special Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 29, 1999 was mailed to Autonomous stockholders on or about March 29, 1999. At the Special Meeting, Autonomous stockholders approved and adopted the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

3387821.04

5. The effective date of the merger herein provided for in the State of Florida shall be April 29, 1999 and the effective time shall be the time of filing.

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank]

-2-

EXECUTED ON April 29, 1999.

Alpine Acquisition Corp.

By:

James A. Lightman, Vice President

[Signatures continued on next page]

Autonomous Technologies Corporation

By:

Randy W. Frey, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTION COPY

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER BY AND AMONG SUMMIT TECHNOLOGY, INC., ALPINE ACQUISITION CORP., AND AUTONOMOUS TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

Dated as of October 1, 1998

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	1
THE MERGER	1
SECTION 1.1 The Merger	1
SECTION 1.2 Effective Time	2
SECTION 1.3 Effect of the Merger	2
SECTION 1.4 Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws	2
SECTION 1.5 Directors and Officers	
SECTION 1.6 Effect on Capital Stock	
SECTION 1.7 Exchange of Certificates	5
SECTION 1.8 Stock Transfer Books	
SECTION 1.9 No Further Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock	7
SECTION 1.10 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates	7
SECTION 1.11 Tax Consequences	7
SECTION 1.12 Taking of Necessary Action; Further Action	7
SECTION 1.13 Material Adverse Effect	8
SECTION 1.14 Restructuring of the Merger	8
ARTICLE II	
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	9
SECTION 2.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries	9
SECTION 2.2 Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws	10
SECTION 2.3 Capitalization	10
SECTION 2.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement	11
SECTION 2.5 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	11
SECTION 2.6 Compliance	13
SECTION 2.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements	13
SECTION 2.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events	13
SECTION 2.9 No Undisclosed Liabilities	14
SECTION 2.10 Absence of Litigation	14
SECTION 2.11 Employee Benefit Plans, Employment Agreements	
SECTION 2.12 Labor Matters	16
SECTION 2.13 Registration Statement, Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus	16
SECTION 2.14 Title to Property	17
SECTION 2.15 Taxes.	17
SECTION 2.16 Environmental Matters	
SECTION 2.17 Intellectual Property	្ញ 18
SECTION 2.18 Regulatory Matters	20
SECTION 2.19 Interested Party Transactions	21

ENDFIELD:
SECTION 2.20 Insurance
SECTION 2.21 Opinion of Financial Advisor
SECTION 2.22 Brokers
SECTION 2.23 Change in Control Payments
SECTION 2.24 Expenses
SECTION 2.25 No Existing Discussions
SECTION 2.26 Sections 607.0901 and 607.0902 of the FBCA Not Applicable 22
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB 22
SECTION 3.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries
SECTION 3.2 Charter and By-Laws
SECTION 3.3 Capitalization
SECTION 3.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement
SECTION 3.5 No Conflict, Required Filings and Consents
SECTION 3.6 Compliance
SECTION 3.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements
SECTION 3.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events
SECTION 3.9 No Undisclosed Liabilities
SECTION 3.10 Absence of Litigation
SECTION 3.11 Employee Benefit Plans; Employment Agreements26
SECTION 3.12 Labor Matters
SECTION 3.13 Registration Statement; Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus 28
SECTION 3.14 Title to Property
SECTION 3.15 Taxes
SECTION 3.16 Environmental Matters
SECTION 3.17 Intellectual Property
SECTION 3.18 Regulatory Matters
SECTION 3.19 Interested Party Transactions
SECTION 3.20 Financial Capacity
SECTION 3.21 Opinion of Financial Advisor
SECTION 3.22 Brokers
SECTION 3.23 Ownership of Merger Sub; No Prior Activities
ARTICLE IV
CONDUCT OF BUSINESS PENDING THE MERGER
SECTION 4.1 Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger 32
SECTION 4.2 No Solicitation 24

3331279.05 -ii-

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
SECTION 5.1 HSR Act
SECTION 5.2 Joint Proxy Statement Prospectus; Registration Statement
SECTION 5.3 Stockholders Meetings
SECTION 5.4 Access to Information; Confidentiality
SECTION 5.5 Consents; Approvals
SECTION 5.6 Agreements with Respect to Affiliates
SECTION 5.7 Indemnification and Insurance
SECTION 5.8 Notification of Certain Matters
SECTION 5.9 Further Action/Tax Treatment
SECTION 5.10 Public Announcements
SECTION 5.11 Accountants' Letters
SECTION 5.12 Board Representation
SECTION 5.13 Nasdaq Listing
SECTION 5.14 Listing of Parent Shares
SECTION 5.15 Joint Shareholder Communications Efforts
SECTION 5.16 Dismissal of Civil Actions
SECTION 5.17 Issuance of CIBA Shares
ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER
SECTION 6.1 Conditions to Obligation of Each Party to Effect the Merger 40
SECTION 6.2 Additional Conditions to Obligations of Parent and
Merger Sub
SECTION 6.3 Additional Conditions to Obligation of the Company
ARTICLE VII
TERMINATION
SECTION 7.1 Termination
SECTION 7.2 Effect of Termination
SECTION 7.3 Fees and Expenses
ARTICLE VIII
GENERAL PROVISIONS
SECTION 8.1 Effectiveness of Representations, Warranties and Agreements;
Knowledge, Etc
SECTION 8.2 Notices
SECTION 8.3 Certain Definitions

3331279.05 -iii-

SECTION 8.4	Amendment	48
SECTION 8.5	Waiver	48
	Headings	
	Severability	
	Entire Agreement	
	Assignment; Guarantee of Merger Sub	
	Parties in Interest	
SECTION 8.11	Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver; Remedies Cumulative	49
	Coverning Law	
	Counterparts	

Location of Defined Terms in Agreement and Plan of Merger

<u>Defined Terms</u>	Section of Merger Agreement
1998 Company Balance Sheet	2.9
1998 Parent Balance Sheet	3.9
Acquisition Proposal	4.2(a)
Affiliates	8.3
Affiliate Agreement	5.6
Affiliate Letter	5.6
Agreement	Preamble
Alternative Transaction	7.1
Approvals	2.1
Average Closing Price	1.6(a)
Beneficial Owner	8.3
Blue Sky Laws	2.5(d)
Business Day	8.3
Cash Consideration	1.6(a)
Certificates	1.6(f)
Certificates of Merger	1.2
Closing	1.1(b)
Code	Preamble
Company	Preamble
Company Common Stock	Preamble
Company Disclosure Schedule	Article II Preamble
Company Employee Plans	2.11(a)
Company ERISA Affiliate	2.11(a)
Company Fee	7.3(b)
Company Intellectual Property Rights	2.17(a)
Company Liens	2.3
Company Permits	2.6(b)
Company Products	2.18(a)
Company SEC Reports	2.7(a)
Company Stockholders Meeting	2.13
Company Stock Option Plan	1.6(c)(i)
Company Stock Purchase Plan	1.6(c)(v)
Confidentiality Letter	5.4
Control	8.3
DGCL	Preamble
Diluted Company Common Stock	1.6(a)
Effective Time	1.2
Environmental Laws	2.16

ERISA	2.11(a)
Exchange Act	2.5(a)
Exchange Agent	1.7(a)
FBCA	Preamble
FDA	2.18(a)
Generally accepted accounting principles	8.3
HSR Act	2.5(d)
Indemnified Parties	5.7(b)
IRS	2.11(b)
ISO	2.11(c)
Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus	2.13
Laws	2.5(c)
Licenses	2.18(b)
Liens	2.3
Material Adverse Effect	1.13
Merger	Preamble
Merger Consideration	1.7(b)
Merger Sub	Preamble
Parent	Preamble
Parent Common Stock	1.6(a)
Parent Disclosure Schedule	Article III Preamble
Parent Employee Plans	3.11(a)
Parent ERISA Affiliate	3.11(a)
Parent Fee	7.3(c)
Parent Intellectual Property Rights	3.17(a)
Parent Liens	3.3
Parent Material Adverse Effect	1.13
Parent Permits	3.6(b)
Parent Products	3.18(a)
Parent SEC Reports	3.7(a)
Parent Shares	1.6(a)
Parent Stockholders Meeting	2.13
PBGC	2.11(b)
Per Share Cash Consideration	1.6(a)
Per Share Stock Consideration	1.6(a)
Outstanding Company Common Stock	1.6(a)
Rule 145	5.6
SEC	2.5(a)
Securities Act	1.6(c)(iv)
Series I Preferred Stock	1.6(a)
Share	Preamble
Stock Consideration	1.6(a)
Stock Options	1.6(c)(i)

3331279.05 -VÎ-

Stockholders Agreements	2.26
Stockholders Meeting	2.13
Subsidiary Documents	2.2
Tax/Taxes	2.15
Tax Returns	2.15
Terminating Breach	7.1(f)
Third Party	7.1(h)

3331279.05 -Vii-

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of October 1, 1998 (this "Agreement"), among Summit Technology, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation ("Parent"), Alpine Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and Autonomous Technologies Corporation, a Florida corporation (the "Company").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have each determined that it is advisable and in the best interests of their respective stockholders for Parent to enter into a business combination with the Company upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, in furtherance of such combination, the Boards of Directors of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have each approved the merger (the "Merger") of the Company with and into Merger Sub or, if the Merger is restructured as provided herein, of Merger Sub with an into the Company, in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Florida Business Corporation Act (the "FBCA") and the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL"), and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company intend, unless the Merger shall have been restructured as provided herein, by approving resolutions authorizing this Agreement, to adopt this Agreement as a plan of reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and the regulations promulgated thereunder; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Merger, each outstanding share (a "Share") of the Company's common stock, \$.01 par value per share (the "Company Common Stock"), shall be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration (as defined in Section 1.7(b)), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and intending to be legally bound hereby, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

SECTION 1.1 The Merger.

(a) Effective Time. At the Effective Time (as defined in Section 1.2), and subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the FBCA and the DGCL, the Company shall be merged with and into Merger Sub, the separate corporate existence of the Company shall cease, and Merger

3331279.05

Sub shall continue as the surviving corporation. Merger Sub as the surviving corporation after the Merger is hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Surviving Corporation."

(b) Closing. Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated pursuant to Section 7.1 and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VI, the consummation of the Merger (the "Closing") will take place as promptly as practicable (and in any event within two business days) after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VI, at the offices of Ropes & Gray, One International Place, Boston, Massachusetts, unless another date, time or place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto.

SECTION 1.2 Effective Time. As promptly as practicable after the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VI, the parties hereto shall cause the Merger to be consummated by filing certificates of merger as contemplated by the FBCA and the DGCL (the "Certificates of Merger"), together with any required related certificates, with the Secretary of State of the State of Florida and the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, in such form as required by, and executed in accordance with the relevant provisions of, the FBCA and the DGCL (the time of the later of such filings being the "Effective Time").

SECTION 1.3 Effect of the Merger. At the Effective Time, the effect of the Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement, the Certificates of Merger and the applicable provisions of the FBCA and the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time all the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

SECTION 1.4 Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws.

- (a) Certificate of Incorporation. Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, at the Effective Time the Certificate of Incorporation of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the DGCL and such Certificate of Incorporation.
- (b) By-Laws. Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, at the Effective Time the By-Laws of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and such By-Laws.

SECTION 1.5 Directors and Officers. The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation, and the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the Surviving Corporation, in each case until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified.

3331279.05 -2-

SECTION 1.6 Effect on Capital Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or any of their respective stockholders:

(a) Conversion of Securities. Each Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (excluding any Shares to be canceled pursuant to Section 1.6(b)) shall be converted, subject to Section 1.6(f), into the right to receive (i) the quotient of 11,650,400 shares (the "Stock Consideration") of validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares ("Parent Shares") of the Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of Parent ("Parent Common Stock") divided by the Diluted Company Common Stock (the "Per Share Stock Consideration") and (ii) the quotient of \$50,000,000 in cash less (A) one-half of any amounts advanced to the Company by Parent after the date hereof and (B) unless the holders of the Series I Preferred Stock shall have converted such Series I Preferred Stock prior to the Effective Time, any amounts that would be payable upon redemption of all shares of the Company's Convertible Preferred Stock, Series I, \$.01 par value per share (the "Series I Preferred Stock"), that are issued or issuable as of the date hereof, assuming redemption is made on the date on which the Effective Time occurs in accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of Incorporation or pursuant to any agreement with the holders of Series I Preferred Stock prior to the Effective Time (the "Cash Consideration") divided by the Diluted Company Common Stock (the "Per Share Cash Consideration"). If the average closing price of Parent Common Stock on The Nasdaq National Market for the five trading days ending on the day before the date on which the Effective Time occurs (the "Average Closing Price") is less than \$4.2917, then the \$50,000,000 in the previous sentence shall be reduced to 11,650,400 multiplied by the Average Closing Price.

"Diluted Company Common Stock" means the number of shares of Company Common Stock outstanding at the Effective Time (the "Outstanding Company Common Stock"), plus all shares of Company Common Stock issuable upon the exercise or conversion of all options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights, agreements, arrangements or other commitments of any character pursuant to which the Company is obligated, contingently or otherwise, to issue or sell shares of Company Common Stock (excluding the Series I Preferred Stock and all rights to acquire the Series I Preferred Stock) calculated by applying the treasury stock method to options, warrants and convertible securities.

(b) Cancellation. Each Share held in the treasury of the Company and each Share owned by Parent, Merger Sub or any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company or Parent immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, cease to be outstanding, be canceled and retired without payment of any consideration therefor and cease to exist.

(c) Stock Options and Stock Purchase Plan.

- (i) At the Effective Time, Parent will assume each then outstanding option to purchase Shares (the "Stock Options") under the Company's 1995 Stock Option Plan (the "Company Stock Option Plan") as to which the holder has waived the acceleration of vesting under Section 14 of the Company Stock Option Plan, and each such Stock Option shall thereafter constitute an option to acquire, on substantially the same terms and subject to substantially the same conditions as were applicable under such Stock Option, including without limitation term, vesting, exercisability, status as an "incentive stock option" under Section 422 of the Code and termination provisions, the number of shares of Parent Common Stock, rounded down to the nearest whole share, equal to the sum of (i) the product of the number of Shares subject to such Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by the Per Share Stock Consideration plus (ii) the product of the number of Shares subject to such Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the Per Share Cash Consideration and the denominator of which is the Average Closing Price. The exercise price per share of Parent Common Stock (increased to the nearest whole cent) shall be equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Stock Option divided by the number of Shares of Parent Common Stock into which such Stock Option will become exercisable at the Effective Time; provided, however, that in the case of any Stock Option to which Section 421 of the Code applies by reason of its qualification as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code, the conversion formula shall be adjusted if necessary to comply with Section 424(a) of the Code.
- (ii) The Company shall use its best efforts to obtain all necessary waivers, consents or releases from holders of Stock Options under the Company Stock Option Plan and take any such other action as may be reasonably necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Section 1.6(c).
- (iii) Parent shall take all corporate action necessary to reserve for issuance a sufficient number of Parent Shares for delivery pursuant to the terms set forth in this Section 1.6(c).
- (iv) Subject to any applicable limitations under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the "Securities Act"), Parent shall either (A) file a Registration Statement on Form S-8 (or any successor form), effective as of the Effective Time, with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Stock Options, or (B) file any necessary amendments to the Company's previously-filed Registration Statement(s) on Form S-8 in order that the Parent will be deemed a "successor registrant" thereunder, and, in either event the Parent shall use all reasonable efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement(s) (and maintain the current status of the prospectus or prospectuses relating thereto) for so long as such Stock Options shall remain outstanding.

3331279.05 -4-

- (v) The Company will promptly cause written notice of the execution of this Agreement to be given to persons holding options or other rights to purchase Company Common Stock under the Company's 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Company Stock Purchase Plan"). The Company will terminate the Company Stock Purchase Plan at the end of the current purchase period.
- (d) Capital Stock of Merger Sub. Each share of common stock, \$.01 par value, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall remain outstanding.
- (e) Adjustments to Stock Consideration. The Stock Consideration shall be adjusted to fully reflect the effect of any stock split, reverse split, stock dividend (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into Parent Common Stock), reorganization, recapitalization or other like change with respect to Parent Common Stock occurring after the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time.
- (f) Fractional Shares. Unless Parent otherwise elects, no certificates or scrip representing less than one Parent Share shall be issued upon the surrender for exchange of a certificate or certificates which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Shares (the "Certificates"). If Parent so elects, in lieu of any such fractional share, each holder of Shares who would otherwise have been entitled to a fraction of a Parent Share upon surrender of Certificates for exchange shall be paid upon such surrender cash equal to the product of (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) the Average Closing Price.

SECTION 1.7 Exchange of Certificates.

- (a) Exchange Agent. Parent shall supply, or shall cause to be supplied, to or for the account of BankBoston, N.A., or such other bank or trust company as shall be designated by Parent (the "Exchange Agent"), in trust for the benefit of the holders of Company Common Stock, for exchange in accordance with this Section 1.7, through the Exchange Agent, certificates evidencing the Parent Shares issuable pursuant to Section 1.6 in exchange for outstanding Shares.
- (b) Exchange Procedures. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, Parent will instruct the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of Certificates (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates to the Exchange Agent and shall be in such form and have such other provisions as Parent may reasonably specify), and (ii) instructions to effect the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the certificates evidencing Parent Shares. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange Agent together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed, and such other customary documents as may be required pursuant to such instructions, the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor (A) certificates evidencing that number of whole Parent Shares which such holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 1.6(a) in respect of the Shares formerly evidenced by such Certificate, (b) the per Share Cash Consideration, (C) any dividends or other distributions to which

3331279.05 -5-

such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 1.7(c), and (D) cash in respect of fractional shares as provided in Section 1.6(f) (the Stock Consideration, the Cash Consideration, dividends, distributions and cash being, collectively, the "Merger Consideration"), and the Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Shares which is not registered in the transfer records of the Company as of the Effective Time, the Merger Consideration may be issued and paid in accordance with this Article I to a transferee if the Certificate evidencing such Shares is presented to the Exchange Agent, accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer pursuant to this Section 1.7(b) and by evidence that any applicable stock transfer taxes have been paid. Until so surrendered, each outstanding Certificate that, prior to the Effective Time, represented Shares will be deemed from and after the Effective Time, for all corporate purposes, other than the payment of dividends and subject to Section 1.6(f), to evidence the ownership of the number of whole Parent Shares that represent the Stock Consideration with respect to such Shares.

- (c) Distributions With Respect to Unexchanged Parent Shares. No dividends or other distributions declared or made after the Effective Time with respect to Parent Shares with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Certificate with respect to the Parent Shares they are entitled to receive until the holder of such Certificate shall surrender such Certificate. Subject to applicable law, following surrender of any such Certificate, there shall be paid to the record holder of the certificates representing whole Parent Shares issued in exchange therefor, without interest, at the time of such surrender, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to such whole Parent Shares.
- (d) Transfers of Ownership. If any certificate for Parent Shares is to be issued in a name other than that in which the Certificate surrendered in exchange therefor is registered, it will be a condition to the issuance thereof that the Certificate so surrendered will be properly endorsed and otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the person requesting such exchange will have paid to Parent or any agent designated by it any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the issuance of a certificate for Parent Shares in any name other than that of the registered holder of the certificate surrendered, or have established to the satisfaction of Parent or any agent designated by it that such tax has been paid or is not payable.
- (e) No Liability. At any time following one year after the Effective Time, Parent shall be entitled to require the Exchange Agent to deliver to Parent any Merger Consideration which had been made available to the Exchange Agent by or on behalf of Parent and which has not been disbursed to holders of Certificates, and thereafter such holders shall be entitled to look to Parent only as general creditors thereof with respect to the Merger Consideration payable upon due surrender of their Certificates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Parent, Merger Sub nor the Company shall be liable to any holder of Company Common Stock for any Merger Consideration delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law.

(f) Withholding Rights. Parent or the Exchange Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Merger Consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of Company Common Stock such amounts as Parent or the Exchange Agent is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Code, or any provision of state, local or foreign tax law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by Parent or the Exchange Agent, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of the Shares in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by Parent or the Exchange Agent.

SECTION 1.8 *Stock Transfer Books*. At the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed, and there shall be no further registration of transfers of Company Common Stock thereafter on the records of the Company.

SECTION 1.9 No Further Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock. The Merger Consideration delivered upon the surrender of Certificates in exchange for the Shares represented thereby, in accordance with the terms hereof, shall be deemed to have been issued in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Shares, and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the records of the Surviving Corporation of Shares which were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates are presented to the Surviving Corporation for any reason, they shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this Article I.

SECTION 1.10 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. In the event any Certificates shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the Exchange Agent shall issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificates, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the holder thereof, such Parent Shares as may be required pursuant to Section 1.6; provided, however, that Parent may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificates to deliver a bond in such sum as it may reasonably direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against Parent or the Exchange Agent with respect to the Certificates alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

SECTION 1.11 Tax Consequences. Unless the Merger is restructured as the Alternative Taxable Merger, it is intended by the parties hereto that the Merger shall constitute a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code. The parties hereto hereby adopt this Agreement as a "plan of reorganization" within the meaning of Sections 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3(a) of the United States Treasury Regulations.

SECTION 1.12 Taking of Necessary Action; Further Action. Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company will take all such reasonable and lawful action as may be necessary or appropriate in order to effectuate the Merger in accordance with this Agreement as promptly as possible. If, at any time after the Effective Time, any such further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement and to vest the Surviving Corporation with full right, title and possession to all assets, property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub, the officers and directors of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective

3331279.05 -7-

Time are fully authorized in the name of their respective corporations or otherwise to take, and will take, all such lawful and necessary action.

SECTION 1.13 Material Adverse Effect. When used in connection with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or Parent or any of its subsidiaries, as the case may be, the term "Material Adverse Effect" means any change, effect or circumstance that, individually or when taken together with all other such similar or related changes, effects or circumstances that have occurred prior to the date of determination of the occurrence of the Material Adverse Effect, (a) is materially adverse to the business, assets (including intangible assets), financial condition or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries or Parent and its subsidiaries, as the case may be, in each case taken as a whole (other than changes that are the effect of economic factors affecting the economy as a whole), or (b) is reasonably likely to materially delay or prevent the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

SECTION 1.14 Restructuring of the Merger.

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement, in the event that either:
- (i) the product of the Average Closing Price and the number of shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in the Merger in respect of Outstanding Company Common Stock shall be less than 82% of the sum of (A) the product of the Per Share Cash Consideration and the Outstanding Company Common Stock plus (B) the amounts described in Section 1.6(a)(ii)(B), or
- (ii) the product of the average of the high and low sale prices of the Parent Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market on the last trading date prior to the Closing Date and the number of shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in the Merger in respect of Outstanding Company Common Stock adjusted to reflect the effect of any trading restrictions, shall be less than the sum of (A) the product of the Per Share Cash Consideration and the Outstanding Company Common Stock plus (B) the amounts described in Section 1.6(a)(ii)(B),

then as promptly as practicable, the Merger shall be restructured as provided in this Section 1.14 (the "Alternative Taxable Merger").

- (b) The following provisions shall apply to the Alternative Taxable Merger:
 - (i) Section 1.1(a) of this Agreement shall be deemed to read, in its entirety, as follows:
- "(a) Effective Time. At the Effective Time (as defined in Section 1.2), and subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the FBCA and the DGCL, Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease, and the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation. The Company as the surviving corporation after the Merger is hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Surviving Corporation."

3331279.05 -8-

- (ii) Sections 1.4(a) and (b) of this Agreement shall be deemed to read, in their entirety, as follows:
- "(a) Articles of Incorporation. Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, at the Effective Time the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the FBCA and such Articles of Incorporation."
- "(b) By-Laws. Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, at the Effective Time the By-Laws of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the FBCA, the Articles of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and such By-Laws."
 - (iii) Section 1.5(d) of this Agreement shall be deemed to read, in its entirety, as follows:
- "(d) Capital Stock of Merger Sub. Each share of common stock, \$.01 par value, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and exchanged for one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of the Surviving Corporation."
- (iv) The condition set forth in Section 6.2(d) of this Agreement shall not be applicable to the Alternative Merger.
- (v) All references in this Agreement to the Surviving Corporation shall be deemed references to the Company as the Surviving Corporation in the Alternative Merger.
- (vi) All references in this Agreement to the Merger shall be deemed references to the Alternative Merger, as provided for in this Section 1.14.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company hereby represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub that, except as set forth in the written disclosure schedule delivered on or prior to the date hereof by the Company to Parent that is arranged in paragraphs corresponding to the numbered and lettered paragraphs contained in this Article II (the "Company Disclosure Schedule"):

SECTION 2.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries. Each of the Company and each of its subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the requisite corporate power and authority and is in possession of all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, consents, certificates, approvals and orders ("Approvals") necessary to own, lease and operate the properties

it purports to own, operate or lease and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, except where the failure to be so organized, existing and in good standing or to have such power, authority and Approvals would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Company and its subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed as a foreign corporation to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of its properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its activities makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing that would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. A true and complete list as of the date hereof of all of the Company's subsidiaries, together with the jurisdiction of incorporation of each subsidiary, the authorized capitalization of each subsidiary, and the percentage of each subsidiary's outstanding capital stock owned by the Company or another subsidiary, is set forth in Section 2.1 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. The Company does not directly or indirectly own any equity or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, any equity or similar interest in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other business association or entity, with respect to which interest the Company has invested or is required to invest \$200,000 or more, excluding securities in any publicly traded company held for investment by the Company and comprising less than five percent of the outstanding stock of such company.

SECTION 2.2 Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws. The Company has heretofore furnished to Parent a complete and correct copy of its Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws as most recently restated and subsequently amended to the date hereof, and has furnished or made available to Parent the Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws (or equivalent organizational documents) of each of its subsidiaries (the "Subsidiary Documents"). Such Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws and Subsidiary Documents are in full force and effect and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is in violation of any of the provisions of its Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws or Subsidiary Documents, except where the failure to be in full force and effect or where such violation would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.3 Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 25,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock and (ii) 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share. As of October 1, 1998, (i) 11,524,467 shares of Company Common Stock were issued and outstanding, all of which are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and no shares were held in treasury, (ii) 1,000 shares of preferred stock had been designated as Series I Preferred Stock of which 436 shares are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and of which 400 shares are subject to an option for their purchase, (iii) no shares of Company Common Stock were held by subsidiaries of the Company, (iv) 2,263,197 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance upon the conversion of the Series I Preferred Stock, of which a maximum of 1,750,000 shares are issuable upon the conversion of the initial 500 shares of Series I Preferred Stock and of which the remaining 513,197 shares become issuable upon the purchase of an additional 400 shares of Series I Preferred Stock pursuant to an option for such purchase, such that the total of 2,263,197 shares of Company Common Stock are issuable upon the conversion of the total 900 shares of Series I Preferred Stock, (v) 922,350 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, (vi) 1,690,926 shares of Company Common Stock were

3331279.05 -10-

reserved for future issuance pursuant to outstanding stock options granted under the Company Stock Option Plan, (vii) 171,713 of Company Common Stock are reserved for future issuance pursuant to the Strategic Alliance Agreement and (viii) 380,000 of Company Common Stock are reserved for issuance pursuant to stock purchase warrants which may become outstanding upon the exercise of an option to purchase Series I Preferred Stock referred to in clause (iv) of this sentence. No material change in such capitalization has occurred between September 30, 1998 and the date hereof other than the issuance of shares of Company Common Stock under the Company Stock Option Plans and under the Company Stock Purchase Plan. All options, warrants or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character to which the Company or a subsidiary or, to the Company's knowledge, any other person is a party relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or obligating the Company or any of its subsidiaries to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in, the Company or any of its subsidiaries are described in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. All shares of Company Common Stock subject to issuance as aforesaid, upon issuance on the terms and conditions specified in the instruments pursuant to which they are issuable, shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. There are no obligations, contingent or otherwise, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Company Common Stock or the capital stock of any subsidiary or to provide funds to or make any investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution, guaranty or otherwise) in any such subsidiary or any other entity. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of each of the Company's subsidiaries are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and all such shares are owned by the Company or another subsidiary of the Company, free and clear of all security interests, liens, claims, pledges, agreements, limitations in the Company's voting rights, charges or other encumbrances of any nature whatsoever (collectively, "Company Liens").

SECTION 2.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement. The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions so contemplated (other than the adoption of this Agreement by the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock entitled to vote in accordance with the FBCA and the Company's Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws). As of the date of this Agreement, the Board of Directors of the Company has determined that it is advisable and in the best interest of the Company's stockholders for the Company to enter into a business combination with Parent upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, and has unanimously recommended that the Company's stockholders approve and adopt this Agreement and the Merger. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, as applicable, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms.

3331279.05 -11-

SECTION 2.5 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

- (a) Section 2.5(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule includes a list of (i) all contracts, agreements, commitments or other understandings or arrangements to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their respective properties or assets are bound or affected, but excluding (A) contracts, agreements, commitments or other understandings or arrangements entered into in the ordinary course of business and involving, in each case, payments by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of less than \$100,000 in any single instance, and (B) employment agreements and stock option agreements and (ii) all agreements which, as of the date hereof, the Company is required to file as "material contracts" with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the SEC's rules and regulations thereunder (the "Exchange Act").
- (b) (i) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has breached, is in default under, or has received written notice of any breach of or default under, any of the agreements, contracts or other instruments required to be disclosed in Section 2.5(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (ii) to the best knowledge of the Company, no other party to any of the agreements, contracts or other instrument required to be disclosed in Section 2.5(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule has breached or is in default of any of its obligations thereunder, and (iii) each of the agreements, contracts and other instruments required to be disclosed in Section 2.5(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is in full force and effect, except in any such case for breaches, defaults or failures to be in full force and effect that is not currently having or would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company does not, and the performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not, (i) conflict with or violate the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company, (ii) conflict with or violate any federal, foreign, state or provincial law, rule, regulation, order, judgment or decree (collectively, "Laws") applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or by which its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected, or (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or impair the Company's or any of its subsidiaries' rights or alter the rights or obligations of any third party under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Company Lien on any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected, except in any such case for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

3331279.05

(d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company does not, and the performance of this Agreement by the Company will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, any federal, foreign, state or provincial governmental or regulatory authority except (i) for applicable requirements, if any, of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, state securities laws ("Blue Sky Laws"), the pre-merger notification requirements of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), and the filing and recordation of appropriate merger or other documents as required by the DGCL, and (ii) where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would be reasonably expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.6 Compliance. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is in conflict with, or in default or violation of, (i) any Law or Approval applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or by which its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected or (ii) any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected, except for any such conflicts, defaults or violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

- (a) The Company has filed all forms, reports and documents required to be filed by it with the SEC since January 1, 1997 (collectively, the "Company SEC Reports"). The Company SEC Reports (i) were prepared in all material respects in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and (ii) did not at the time they were filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing) contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. None of the Company's subsidiaries is required to file any forms, reports or other documents with the SEC.
- (b) Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any related notes thereto) contained in the Company SEC Reports was prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto), and each fairly presents in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows and stockholders equity for the periods indicated, except that the unaudited interim financial statements were or are subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments which were not or are not expected to be material in amount.

SECTION 2.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except as disclosed in the Company SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, since June 30, 1998, the Company has conducted its

3331279.05 -13-

business in the ordinary course and there has not occurred: (a) any Company Material Adverse Effect; (b) any amendments or changes in the Articles of Incorporation or By-laws of the Company; (c) any damage to, destruction or loss of any asset of the Company (whether or not covered by insurance) that would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect; (d) any material change by the Company in its accounting methods, principles or practices; (e) any material revaluation by the Company of any of its assets, including, without limitation, writing down the value of inventory or writing off notes or accounts receivable other than in the ordinary course of business; (f) any other action or event that would have required the consent of Parent pursuant to Section 4.1 had such action or event occurred after the date of this Agreement; or (g) any sale of a material amount of property of the Company or any of its subsidiaries taken as a whole, except in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 2.9 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as disclosed in the Company SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof and except for the severance obligation disclosed in Schedule 2.9 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any liabilities (absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), except liabilities (a) in the aggregate adequately provided for or disclosed in the Company's balance sheet (including any related notes thereto) as of June 30, 1998 (the "1998 Company Balance Sheet"), (b) incurred in the ordinary course of business and not required under generally accepted accounting principles to be reflected on the 1998 Company Balance Sheet, (c) incurred since June 30, 1998 in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (d) incurred in connection with this Agreement, or (e) which would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.10 Absence of Litigation. There are no claims, actions, suits, proceedings or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any properties or rights of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, before any federal, foreign, state or provincial court, arbitrator or administrative, governmental or regulatory authority or body that would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.11 Employee Benefit Plans, Employment Agreements.

(a) Section 2.11 (a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all employee pension plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA")), all material employee welfare plans (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), and all other material bonus, stock option, stock purchase, incentive, deferred compensation, supplemental retirement, severance and other similar fringe or employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements, written or otherwise, for the benefit of, or relating to, any current or former employees of or consultants to the Company, any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is a member of a controlled group including the Company or which is under common control with the Company (a "Company ERISA Affiliate") within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code, or any subsidiary of the Company, as well as each plan with respect to which the Company or a Company ERISA Affiliate would incur liability under Section 4069 (if such plan has been or were terminated) or Section 4212(c) of ERISA (all such plans, practices and programs are referred to as the "Company

3331279.05 -14-

Employee Plans"). To the extent requested by Parent, there have been made available to Parent copies of (i) each such written Company Employee Plan (other than those referred to in Section 4(b)(4) of ERISA), (ii) the most recent annual report on Form 5500 series, with accompanying schedules and attachments, filed with respect to each Company Employee Plan required to make such a filing, and (iii) the most recent actuarial valuation for each Company Employee Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA. For purposes of this Section 2.11 (a), the term "material," used with respect to any Company Employee Plan, shall mean that the Company or a Company ERISA Affiliate has incurred or may reasonably be expected to incur obligations in an annual amount exceeding \$100,000 with respect to such Company Employee Plan.

- (b) (i) None of the Company Employee Plans promises or provides retiree medical or other retiree welfare benefits to any person, and none of the Company Employee Plans is a "multiemployer plan" as such term is defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA; (ii) there has been no "prohibited transaction," as such term is defined in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, with respect to any Company Employee Plan, which could result in any material liability of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) all Company Employee Plans are in compliance in all material respects with the requirements prescribed by any and all Laws (including ERISA and the Code), currently in effect with respect thereto (including all applicable requirements for notification to participants or the Department of Labor, Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (the "PBGC"), Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") or Secretary of the Treasury), and the Company and each of its subsidiaries have performed all material obligations required to be performed by them under, are not in any material respect in default under or violation of, and have no knowledge of any default or violation by any other party to, any of the Company Employee Plans; (iv) each Company Employee Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the IRS, and nothing has occurred which may reasonably be expected to impair such determination; (v) all contributions required to be made to any Company Employee Plan pursuant to Section 412 of the Code, or the terms of the Company Employee Plan or any collective bargaining agreement, have been made on or before their due dates; (vi) with respect to each Company Employee Plan, no "reportable event" within the meaning of Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding any such event for which the 30 day notice requirement has been waived under the regulations to Section 4043 of ERISA) nor any event described in Section 4062, 4063 or 4041 of ERISA has occurred; and (vii) neither the Company nor any Company ERISA Affiliate has incurred, nor reasonably expects to incur, any liability under Title IV of ERISA (other than liability for premium payments to the PBGC arising in the ordinary course), except where the failure of any of the foregoing to be true would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) Section 2.11(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list as of the date hereof of each current or former employee, officer or director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who holds (i) any option to purchase Company Common Stock as of the date hereof, together with the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such option, the option price of such option (to the extent determined as of the date hereof), whether such option is intended to qualify as an ISO, and the expiration date of such option; (ii) any other right, directly or

3331279.05 -15-

indirectly, to acquire Company Common Stock, together with the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such right. Section 2.11(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule also sets forth the total number of such ISOs, such nonqualified options and such other rights outstanding on the date hereof.

(d) Section 2.11(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of: (i) all employment agreements with officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries that provide for annual base salaries in excess of \$150,000; (ii) all agreements with consultants who are individuals obligating the Company or any of its subsidiaries to make annual cash payments in an amount exceeding \$150,000; (iii) all severance agreements, programs and policies of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with or relating to its employees, in each case with outstanding commitments exceeding \$150,000, excluding programs and policies required to be maintained by law; and (iv) all plans, programs, agreements and other arrangements of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with or relating to its employees which contain change-in-control provisions.

SECTION 2.12 Labor Matters. (a) There are no claims or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, threatened, between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any of their respective employees, asserting that the Company has committed an unfair labor practice which claims or proceedings are currently having or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect; (b) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to any collective bargaining agreement or other labor union contract applicable to persons employed by the Company or its subsidiaries; and (c) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any knowledge of any strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages, lockouts, or threats thereof, by or with respect to any employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, in each case which would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.13 Registration Statement, Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus. The information supplied by the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (as defined in Section 3.13) shall not at the time the Registration Statement is declared effective by the SEC contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The information supplied by the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the joint proxy statement/prospectus to be sent to the stockholders of the Company in connection with the meeting of the stockholders of the Company to consider the Merger (the "Company Stockholders Meeting") and to be sent to the stockholders of Parent in connection with the meeting of the stockholders of Parent to consider the Merger (the "Parent Stockholders Meeting," and together with the Company Stockholder Meeting, the "Stockholders Meetings") (such joint proxy statement/prospectus as amended or supplemented is referred to herein as the "Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus"), will not, on the date the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus (or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto) is first mailed to stockholders, at the time of the Stockholders Meetings, or at the Effective Time, contain any statement which, at such time and in light of the circumstances under which it shall be made, is false

3331279,05 -16-

or misleading with respect to any material fact, or shall omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein not false or misleading, or omit to state any material fact necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the Stockholders Meetings which has become false or misleading. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any event relating to the Company or any of its respective affiliates, officers or directors should be discovered by the Company which should be set forth in an amendment to the Registration Statement or a supplement to the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus, the Company shall promptly inform Parent and Merger Sub. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by Parent or Merger Sub which is contained in or furnished in connection with the preparation of the Registration Statement or the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

SECTION 2.14 *Title to Property*. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries owns any real property.

SECTION 2.15 Taxes.

- (a) For purposes of this Agreement, "Tax" or "Taxes" shall mean taxes, fees, levies, duties, tariffs, imposts, and governmental impositions or charges of any kind in the nature of (or similar to) taxes, payable to any federal, state, local or foreign taxing authority, including (without limitation) (i) income, franchise, profits, gross receipts, ad valorem, net worth, value added, sales, use, service, real or personal property, special assessments, capital stock, license, payroll, withholding, employment, social security, workers' compensation, unemployment compensation, utility, severance, production, excise, stamp, occupation, premiums, windfall profits, transfer and gains taxes, and (ii) interest, penalties, additional taxes and additions to tax imposed with respect thereto; and "Tax Returns" shall mean returns, reports, and information statements with respect to Taxes required to be filed with the IRS or any other federal, foreign, state or provincial taxing authority, domestic or foreign, including, without limitation, consolidated, combined and unitary tax returns.
- (b) (i) The Company and its subsidiaries have filed all Tax Returns required to be filed by them, (ii) the Company and its subsidiaries have paid and discharged all Taxes due in connection with or with respect to the periods or transactions covered by such Tax Returns and have paid all other Taxes as are due, except such as are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings (to the extent that any such proceedings are required) and with respect to which the Company is maintaining adequate reserves, and (iii) there are no other Taxes that would be due if asserted by a taxing authority, except with respect to which the Company is maintaining reserves to the extent currently required, unless in the case of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Except as does not involve or would not result in liability that would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect: (i) there are no tax liens on any assets of the Company or any subsidiary thereof; and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has granted any waiver of any statute of limitations with respect to, or any extension of a period for the assessment of, any Tax. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has made any payments, is obligated to make any payments, or is a party

3331279.05 -17-

to any agreement that under any circumstance could obligate it to make any payments that will not be deductible under Code Section 280G. None of the Company and its subsidiaries (i) has been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than a group the common parent of which was the Company) or (ii) has any liability for the Taxes of any other person or entity (other than the Company and its subsidiaries) under Treas. Reg. §1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law), as transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise. Neither the Company nor any subsidiary has consented at any time under Section 341(f)(1) of the Code to have the provisions of Section 341(f)(2) of the Code apply to any disposition of the assets of the Company or any subsidiary. The accruals and reserves for Taxes (including deferred taxes) reflected in the 1998 Company Balance Sheet are in all material respects adequate to cover all Taxes required to be accrued through the date thereof (including interest and penalties, if any, thereon and Taxes being contested) in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

(c) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is, or has been, a United States real property holding corporation (as defined in Section 897(c)(2) of the Code) during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code. To the best knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries owns any property of a character, the indirect transfer of which, pursuant to this Agreement, would give rise to any material documentary, stamp or other transfer tax.

SECTION 2.16 Environmental Matters. Except in all cases as, in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and each of its subsidiaries: (i) have obtained all Approvals which are required to be obtained under all applicable federal, state, foreign or local laws or any regulation, code, plan, order, decree, judgment, notice or demand letter issued, entered, promulgated or approved thereunder relating to pollution or protection of the environment, including laws relating to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of pollutants, contaminants, or hazardous or toxic materials or wastes into ambient air, surface water, ground water, or land or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport, or handling of pollutants, contaminants or hazardous or toxic materials or wastes by the Company or its subsidiaries or their respective agents ("Environmental Laws"); (ii) are in compliance with all terms and conditions of such required Approvals, and also are in compliance with all other limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements, obligations, schedules and timetables contained in applicable Environmental Laws; (iii) have not received notice of any past or present violations of Environmental Laws or any event, condition, circumstance, activity, practice, incident, action or plan which is reasonably likely to interfere with or prevent continued compliance with or which would give rise to any common law or statutory liability, or otherwise form the basis of any claim, action, suit or proceeding, against the Company or any of its subsidiaries based on or resulting from the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling, or the emission, discharge or release into the environment, of any pollutant, contaminant or hazardous or toxic material or waste; and (iv) have taken all actions necessary under applicable Environmental Laws to register any products or materials required to be registered by the Company or its subsidiaries (or any of their respective agents) thereunder.

3331279.05 -18-

SECTION 2.17 Intellectual Property.

- (a) The Company, directly or indirectly, owns, or is licensed or otherwise possesses legally enforceable rights to use, all patents, trademarks, trade names, service marks, copyrights, and any applications therefor, know-how, computer software programs or applications, and tangible or intangible proprietary information or material that are material to the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted or as proposed to be conducted (the "Company Intellectual Property Rights"), except where the failure to do so would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will neither cause the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be in violation or default in any material respect under any license, sublicense or agreement with respect to the Company Intellectual Property Rights, nor entitle any other party to any such license, sublicense or agreement to terminate or modify such license, sublicense or agreement, except where such violation, default, termination or modification would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. No claims have been asserted or, to the knowledge of the Company, are threatened by any person nor are there any valid grounds, to the knowledge of the Company for any bona fide claims (i) against the use by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Company Intellectual Property Rights, or (ii) challenging the ownership by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or the validity or effectiveness of any of the Company Intellectual Property Rights, except for such claims that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated, or otherwise come into conflict with any Intellectual Property rights of third parties, and there has never been any charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation, or violation (including any claim that the Company or one of its Subsidiaries must license or refrain from using any Intellectual Property rights of any third party).
- (d) Section 2.17(d) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies each patent or registration which has been issued to the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Company Intellectual Property Rights, identifies each pending patent application or application for registration which has been made with respect to the Company Intellectual Property Rights, and identifies each license, agreement, or other permission which the Company or any of its subsidiaries have granted to any third party with respect to any of the Company Intellectual Property Rights (together with any exceptions). The Company has delivered to Parent correct and complete copies of all such patents, registrations, applications, licenses, agreements, and permissions (as amended to date) and has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of all other written documentation evidencing ownership and prosecution (if applicable) of each such item. The Company disclosed all relevant prior art in its patent applications, and it has no reason to believe that any of its patents is invalid

3331279.05 -19-

or unenforceable. With respect to each item of Intellectual Property required to be identified in § 2.17(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule:

- (i) the Company and its subsidiaries possess all right, title, and interest in and to the item, free and clear of any Lien, license, or other restriction;
- (ii) the item is not subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge;
- (iii) no action, suit, proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, is threatened, which challenges the legality, validity, enforceability, use, or ownership of the item; and
- (iv) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has agreed to indemnify any Person for or against any interference, infringement, misappropriation, or other conflict with respect to the item.

SECTION 2.18 Regulatory Matters.

- (a) Since January 1, 1996 through the date hereof (i) there have been no written notices, citations or decisions by any governmental or regulatory body that any product produced, manufactured, marketed or distributed at any time by the Company or any Company subsidiary (the "Company Products") is defective or fails to meet any applicable standards promulgated by any such governmental or regulatory body, or any other governmental or regulatory body, agency or office of any other jurisdiction to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject, (ii) there have been no recalls, field notifications or seizures ordered or threatened by the United States Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") or any other comparable governmental or regulatory body with respect to any of the Company Products and (iii) none of the Company or the Company subsidiaries have received any warning letter, Section 305 notices from the FDA or so-called Section 483 notices of adverse observations (or comparable notices from such other governmental or regulatory bodies).
- (b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Company Material Adverse Effect, with respect to each Company Product: (i) the Company and its subsidiaries have obtained all applicable approvals, clearances, authorizations, licenses (including site licensures) and registrations required by United States or foreign governments or government agencies to permit the manufacturing, distribution, sale (including reimbursement and pricing), marketing, export, import or human research (including clinical and non-clinical trials) of such Product (collectively, "Licenses"); and (ii) the Company and its subsidiaries are in full compliance with all terms and conditions of each License in each country in which such Company Product is marketed, and with all requirements pertaining to the manufacturing (including current good manufacturing practices), marketing, export, import or human research (including good laboratory practices and clinical and non-clinical trials) of such Company Product which is not required to be the subject of a License.

3331279.05 -20-

(c) There are no impediments to issuance of any Company FDA premarket approval application ("PMA") as to which the Company has received an approvable letter from the FDA other than those set forth in the so-called Section 483 Notices described in the Company Disclosure Schedule, and the Company is not aware of any reason why it will be unable to address to the FDA's satisfaction all observations contained in such Notices. The information in such PMAs is true and correct in all material respects and the Company is not aware of any basis upon which the FDA could fail to approve any material aspect of such applications that have not yet received FDA approval.

SECTION 2.19 Interested Party Transactions. Except for transactions described in the Company SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, no event has occurred that would be required to be reported as a Certain Relationship or Related Transaction, pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

SECTION 2.20 *Insurance*. All material fire and casualty, general liability, business interruption, product liability, professional liability and sprinkler and water damage insurance policies maintained by the Company or any of its subsidiaries are with reputable insurance carriers, provide adequate coverage for all normal risks incident to the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and their properties and assets, and are in character and amount customary for persons engaged in similar businesses and subject to the same or similar perils or hazards, except for any such failures to maintain insurance policies that, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 2.21 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Company has been advised by its financial advisor, EVEREN Securities, Inc. that in its opinion, as of the date hereof, the Merger Consideration to be received by the holders of Shares in the Merger is fair to the holders of Shares from a financial point of view.

SECTION 2.22 *Brokers.* No broker, finder or investment banker (other than EVEREN Securities, Inc., the fees and expenses of whom will be paid by the Company) is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates. The Company has heretofore furnished to Parent a complete and correct copy of all agreements between the Company and EVEREN Securities, Inc. pursuant to which such firm would be entitled to any payment relating to the transactions contemplated hereunder.

SECTION 2.23 Change in Control Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have any plans, programs or agreements to which they are parties, or to which they are subject, pursuant to which payments may be required or acceleration of benefits may be required upon a change of control of the Company.

3331279.05 -21-

SECTION 2.24 Expenses. The Company has provided to Parent a good faith estimate and description of the expenses of the Company and its subsidiaries which the Company expects to incur, or has incurred, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

SECTION 2.25 No Existing Discussions. As of the date hereof, the Company is not engaged, directly or indirectly, in any discussions or negotiations with any other party with respect to an Acquisition Proposal (as defined in Section 4.2).

SECTION 2.26 Sections 607.0901 and 607.0902 of the FBCA Not Applicable. The Board of Directors of the Company has taken all actions so that the restrictions contained in Section 607.0901 of the FBCA applicable to an "affiliated transaction" (as defined in Section 607.0901) and the restrictions contained in Section 607.0902 will not apply to the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the respective Stockholder Agreements dated as of the date hereof between Parent and certain stockholders of the Company (collectively, the "Stockholders Agreements") or the consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or by the Stockholders Agreements.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Parent and Merger Sub hereby, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Company that, except as set forth in the written disclosure schedule delivered on or prior to the date hereof by Parent to the Company that is arranged in paragraphs corresponding to the numbered and lettered paragraphs contained in this Article III (the "Parent Disclosure Schedule") or disclosed in the Parent SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof:

SECTION 3.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries. Each of Parent and its subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the requisite corporate power and authority and is in possession of all Approvals necessary to own, lease and operate the properties it purports to own, operate or lease and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, except where the failure to be so organized, existing and in good standing or to have such power, authority and Approvals would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Each of Parent and its subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed as a foreign corporation to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of its properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its activities makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing that would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. A true and complete list as of the date hereof of all of Parent's subsidiaries, together with the jurisdiction of incorporation of each subsidiary and the percentage of each subsidiary's outstanding capital stock owned by Parent or another subsidiary, is set forth in Section 3.1 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule. Parent does not directly or indirectly own any equity or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for,

3331279.05 -22-

any equity or similar interest in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other business association or entity, with respect to which Parent has invested or is required to invest \$200,000 or more, excluding securities in any publicly traded company held for investment by Parent and comprising less than five percent of the outstanding capital stock of such company.

SECTION 3.2 Charter and By-Laws. Parent has heretofore furnished to the Company a complete and correct copy of its Articles of Organization and By-Laws, as most recently restated and subsequently amended to the date hereof. Such Articles of Organization and By-Laws are in full force and effect and neither Parent nor Merger Sub is in violation of any of the provisions of its Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws, except where the failure to be in full force and effect or where such violation would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.3 Capitalization. As of September 29, 1998, the authorized capital stock of Parent consisted of (i) 60,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock, of which 31,153,765 shares were issued and outstanding, all of which are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, 169,115 shares were held in treasury, 2,484,097 shares were reserved for future issuance under Parent's stock option and employee stock purchase plans and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$.01 par value per share, none of which was issued and outstanding and none of which was held in treasury. No material change in such capitalization has occurred between September •, 1998 and the date hereof, except for issuance of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Parent stock plans. All options, warrants or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character to which Parent or a subsidiary or, to Parent's knowledge, any other person is a party relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of Parent or any of its subsidiaries or obligating Parent or any of its subsidiaries to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in, Parent or any of its subsidiaries are described in Section 3.3 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule. There are no obligations, contingent or otherwise, of Parent or any of its subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Parent Common Stock or the capital stock of any subsidiary or to provide funds to or make any investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in any such subsidiary other than guarantees of bank obligations of subsidiaries entered into in the ordinary course of business. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of each of Parent's subsidiaries is duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and all such shares are owned by Parent or another subsidiary of Parent, free and clear of all security interests, liens, claims, pledges, agreements, limitations in Parent's voting rights, charges or other encumbrances of any nature whatsoever (collectively, "Parent Liens").

SECTION 3.4 Authority Relative to this Agreement. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Parent and Merger Sub, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby (other than the approval of the issuance of the Parent Common

3331279.05 -23-

Stock by holders of a majority of the outstanding Parent Common Stock present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Parent Stockholders Meeting). As of the date hereof, the Board of Directors of Parent has determined that it is advisable and in the best interest of Parent's stockholders for Parent to enter into a business combination with the Company upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and has unanimously recommended that the stockholders of Parent approve the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger pursuant to this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms.

SECTION 3.5 No Conflict, Required Filings and Consents.

- (a) Section 3.5(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule includes a list as of the date hereof of: (i) all contracts, agreements, commitments or other understandings or arrangements to which Parent or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their respective property or assets are bound or affected, but excluding (A) contracts, agreements, commitments or other understandings or arrangements entered into in the ordinary course of business and involving, in each case, payments by Parent or any of its subsidiaries of less than \$500,000, and sales contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, and (B) employment agreements and stock option agreements; and (ii) all agreements which, as of the date hereof, Parent is required to file with the SEC pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act as "material contracts."
- (b) (i) neither the Parent nor any of its subsidiaries has breached, is in default under, or has received written notice of any breach of or default under, any of the agreements, contracts or other instruments required to be disclosed in Section 3.5(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (ii) to the best knowledge of Parent, no other party to any of the agreements, contracts or other instrument required to be disclosed in Section 3.5(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule has breached or is in default of any of its obligations thereunder, and (iii) to the best knowledge of Parent, each of the agreements, contracts and other instruments required to be disclosed in Section 3.5(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule is in full force and effect, except in any such case for breaches, defaults or failures to be in full force and effect that would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub will not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not, (i) conflict with or violate the Articles of Organization (or Certificate of Incorporation) or By-Laws of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) conflict with or violate any Laws applicable to Parent or any of its subsidiaries or by which its or their respective properties are bound or affected, or (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or impair Parent's or any of its subsidiaries' rights or alter the rights or obligations of any third party under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Parent

3331279.05 -24-

Lien on any of the properties or assets of Parent or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation to which Parent or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which Parent or any of its subsidiaries or its or any of their respective properties are bound or affected, except in any such case for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, any federal, foreign, state or provincial governmental or regulatory authority, except (i) for applicable requirements, if any, of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the Blue Sky Laws, the pre-merger notification requirements of the HSR Act, and the filing and recordation of appropriate merger or other documents as required by the FBCA and the DGCL, and (ii) where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.6 Compliance. Neither Parent nor any of its subsidiaries is in conflict with, or in default or violation of, (i) any Law or Approval applicable to Parent or any of its subsidiaries or by which its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected or (ii) any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument or obligation to which Parent or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which Parent or any of its subsidiaries or its or any of their respective properties is bound or affected, except for any such conflicts, defaults or violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.7 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

- (a) Parent has filed all forms, reports and documents required to be filed with the SEC since January 1, 1997 (collectively, the "Parent SEC Reports"). The Parent SEC Reports (i) were prepared in all material respects in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and (ii) did not at the time they were filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing) contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. None of Parent's subsidiaries is required to file any forms, reports or other documents with the SEC. The redacted sections of Parent's June 1998 Settlement Agreement with VISX, Inc. (which, as redacted, is filed with the Parent SEC Reports) contain no provisions that purport to limit, as between Parent and the Company, the operation of any non-redacted sections addressing the applicability of cross-licenses to third parties which acquire or are acquired by Parent.
- (b) Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any related notes thereto) contained in the Parent SEC Reports has been prepared in accordance with generally

3331279.05 -25-

accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and each fairly presents in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Parent and its subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows and stockholders' equity for the periods indicated, except that the unaudited interim financial statements were or are subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments which were not or are not expected to be material in amount.

SECTION 3.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except as disclosed in the Parent SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, since June 30, 1998, Parent has conducted its business in the ordinary course and other than as disclosed in the Parent SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof there has not occurred: (i) any Parent Material Adverse Effect; (ii) any amendments or changes in the Articles of Organization or By-Laws of Parent; (iii) any damage to, destruction or loss of any assets of the Parent (whether or not covered by insurance) that would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect; (iv) any material change by Parent in its accounting methods, principles or practices; (v) any material revaluation by Parent of any of its assets, including without limitation, writing down the value of inventory or writing off notes or accounts receivable other than in the ordinary course of business; (vi) any other action or event that would have required the consent of the Company pursuant to Section 4.3 had such action or event occurred after the date of this Agreement; or (vii) any sale of a material amount of assets of Parent or any of its subsidiaries except in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 3.9 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as disclosed in the Parent SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, neither Parent nor any of its subsidiaries has any liabilities (absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), except liabilities (a) in the aggregate adequately provided for or disclosed in Parent's balance sheet (including any related notes thereto) as of June 30, 1998 included in the Parent's Quarterly Report on 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 1998 (the "1998 Parent Balance Sheet"), (b) incurred in the ordinary course of business and not required under generally accepted accounting principles to be reflected on the 1997 Parent Balance Sheet, (c) incurred since June 30, 1998 in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice, (d) incurred in connection with this Agreement, or (e) which would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.10 Absence of Litigation. Except as disclosed in the Parent SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, there are no claims, actions, suits, proceedings or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the Parent, threatened against the Parent or any of its subsidiaries, or any properties or rights of the Parent or any of its subsidiaries, before any federal, foreign, state or provincial court, arbitrator or administrative, governmental or regulatory authority or body that would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

3331279.05 -26-

SECTION 3.11 Employee Benefit Plans; Employment Agreements.

- (a) Section 3.11(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists as of the date hereof all employee pension plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), all material employee welfare plans, (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA) and all other material bonus, stock option, stock purchase, incentive, deferred compensation, supplemental retirement, severance and other similar fringe or employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements, written or otherwise, for the benefit of, or relating to, any current or former employees of or consultants to Parent, any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is a member of a controlled group including Parent or which is under common control with Parent (a "Parent ERISA Affiliate") within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code, or any subsidiary of Parent, as well as each plan with respect to which Parent or a Parent ERISA Affiliate would incur liability under Section 4069 (if such plan has been or were terminated) or Section 4212(c) of ERISA (all such plans, practices, and programs are referred to herein as the "Parent Employee Plans"). To the extent requested by the Company, there have been made available to the Company copies of (i) each such written Parent Employee Plan (other than those referred to in Section 4(b)(4) of ERISA), (ii) the most recent annual report on form 5500 series, with accompanying schedules and attachments, filed with respect to each Parent Employee Plan required to make such a filing, and (iii) the most recent actuarial valuation for each Parent Employee Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA. For purposes of this Section 3.11 (a) the term material, used with respect to any Parent Employee Plan, shall mean that Parent or a Parent ERISA Affiliate has incurred or may reasonably be expected to incur obligations in an annual amount exceeding \$400,000 with respect to such Parent Employee Plan.
- (b) (i) None of the Parent Employee Plans promises or provides retiree medical or other welfare benefits to any person, and none of the Parent Employee Plans is a "multiemployer plan" as such term is defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA; (ii) there has been no "prohibited transaction," as such term is defined in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, with respect to any Parent Employee Plan, which would result in any material liability of Parent or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) all Parent Employee Plans are in compliance in all material respects with the requirements prescribed by any and all Laws (including ERISA and the Code), currently in effect with respect thereto (including all applicable requirements for notification to participants or the Department of Labor, IRS, PBGC or Secretary of the Treasury), and Parent and each of its subsidiaries have performed all material obligations required to be performed by them under, are not in any material respect in default under or violation of, and have no knowledge of any default or violation by any other party to, any of the Parent Employee Plans; (iv) each Parent Employee Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the IRS, and nothing has occurred which may reasonably be expected to impair such determination; (v) all contributions required to be made to any Parent Employee Plan pursuant to Section 412 of the Code, or the terms of the Parent Employee Plan or any collective bargaining agreement, have been made on or before their due dates; (vi) with respect to each Parent Employee Plan, no "reportable event" within the meaning of Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding any such event for which the 30 day notice requirement has been waived under the regulations to Section 4043 of ERISA) nor any event

3331279.05 -27-

described in Section 4062, 4063 or 4041 of ERISA has occurred; and (vii) neither Parent nor any Parent ERISA Affiliate has incurred, nor reasonably expects to incur, any liability under Title IV of ERISA (other than liability for premium payments to the PBGC arising in the ordinary course), except where the failure of any of the foregoing to be true would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Section 3.11(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of: (i) all employment agreements with officers or employees of Parent or any of its subsidiaries that provide for annual base salaries in excess of \$250,000; (ii) all severance agreements, programs and policies of Parent with or relating to its employees in each case with outstanding commitments exceeding \$250,000, excluding programs and policies required to be maintained by law; and (iii) all plans, programs, agreements and other arrangements of Parent with or relating to its employees which contain change-in-control provisions.

SECTION 3.12 Labor Matters. There are no claims or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of Parent or any of its subsidiaries, threatened, between Parent or any of its subsidiaries and any of their respective employees, asserting that the Company has committed an unfair labor practice which claims or proceedings have or would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect; (ii) neither Parent nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to any collective bargaining agreement or other labor union contract applicable to persons employed by Parent or its subsidiaries; and (iii) neither Parent nor any of its subsidiaries has any knowledge of any strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages, lockouts, or threats thereof, by or with respect to any employees of Parent or any of its subsidiaries, in each case which would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.13 Registration Statement; Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus. Subject to the accuracy of the representations of the Company in Section 2.13, the registration statement (the "Registration Statement") pursuant to which the Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger will be registered with the SEC shall not, at the time the Registration Statement (including any amendments or supplements thereto) is declared effective by the SEC, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements included therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The information supplied by Parent for inclusion or incorporation in the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus will not, on the date the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus is first mailed to stockholders, at the time of the Stockholders Meetings and at the Effective Time, contain any statement which, at such time and in light of the circumstances under which it shall be made, is false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or will omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not false or misleading; or omit to state any material fact necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the Stockholders Meetings which has become false or misleading. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any event relating to Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective affiliates, officers or directors should be discovered by Parent or Merger Sub which should be set forth in an amendment to the Registration Statement or a supplement to the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus, Parent or Merger Sub will promptly inform

3331279.05 -28-

the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent and Merger Sub make no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by the Company which is contained in any of the foregoing documents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent makes no representation or warranty with respect to any information supplied by the Company which is contained in, or furnished in connection with the preparation of, the Registration Statement or the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

SECTION 3.14 *Title to Property*. Neither the Parent nor any of its subsidiaries owns any real property.

SECTION 3.15 Taxes. Parent and its subsidiaries have filed all United States federal income Tax Returns and all other material Tax Returns required to be filed by them, and Parent and its subsidiaries have paid and discharged all Taxes due in connection with or with respect to the periods or transactions covered by such Tax Returns and have paid all other Taxes as are due, except such as are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings (to the extent that any such proceedings are required) and there are no other Taxes that would be due if asserted by a taxing authority, except with respect to which Parent is maintaining reserves to the extent currently required unless the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Except as does not involve or would not result in liability to Parent that would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect: (i) there are no tax liens on any assets of Parent or any subsidiary thereof; and (ii) neither Parent nor any of its subsidiaries has granted any waiver of any statute of limitations with respect to, or any extension of a period for the assessment of, any Tax. The accruals and reserves for Taxes (including deferred taxes) reflected in the 1998 Parent Balance Sheet are in all material respects adequate to cover all Taxes required to be accrued through the date thereof (including interest and penalties, if any, thereon and Taxes being contested) in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

SECTION 3.16 Environmental Matters. Except in all cases as, in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, Parent and each of its subsidiaries to the best of Parent's knowledge: (i) have obtained all Approvals which are required to be obtained under all applicable Environmental Laws by Parent or its subsidiaries (or their respective agents); (ii) are in compliance with all terms and conditions of such required Approvals, and also are in compliance with all other limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements, obligations, schedules and timetables contained in applicable Environmental Laws; (iii) have not received notice of any past or present violations of Environmental Laws, or any event, condition, circumstance, activity, practice, incident, action or plan which is reasonably likely to interfere with or prevent continued compliance with or which would give rise to any common law or statutory liability, or otherwise form the basis of any claim, action, suit or proceeding, against Parent or any of its subsidiaries based on or resulting from the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport, or handling, or the emission, discharge or release into the environment, of any pollutant, contaminant or hazardous or toxic material or waste; and (iv) have taken all actions necessary under applicable Environmental Laws to register any products or

3331279.05 -29-

materials required to be registered by Parent or its subsidiaries (or any of their respective agents) thereunder.

SECTION 3.17 Intellectual Property.

- (a) Parent, directly or indirectly, owns, or is licensed or otherwise possesses legally enforceable rights to use, all trademarks, trade names, service marks, copyrights, and any applications therefor, know-how, computer software programs or applications, and tangible or intangible proprietary information or material that are material to the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted or as proposed to be conducted (the "Parent Intellectual Property Rights"), except where the failure to do so would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will neither cause Parent or any of its subsidiaries to be in violation or default in any material respect under any license, sublicense or agreement with respect to the Parent Intellectual Property Rights, nor entitle any other party to any such license, sublicense or agreement to terminate or modify such license, sublicense or agreement, except where such violation, default, termination or modification would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. No claims have been asserted or, to the knowledge of Parent, are threatened by any person nor are there any valid grounds, to the knowledge of Parent, for any bona fide claims (i) against the use by Parent or any of its subsidiaries of Parent Intellectual Property Rights, or (ii) challenging the ownership by Parent or any of its subsidiaries, or the validity or effectiveness of any of Parent Intellectual Property Rights, except for such claims that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) Except as disclosed in the Parent SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, neither the Parent nor any of its subsidiaries has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated, or otherwise come into conflict with any Intellectual Property rights of third parties, and there has never been any charge, complaint, claim, demand, or notice alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation, or violation (including any claim that Parent or one of its Subsidiaries must license or refrain from using any Intellectual Property rights of any third party).

SECTION 3.18 Regulatory Matters.

(a) Since January 1, 1996 through the date hereof (i) there have been no written notices, citations or decisions by any governmental or regulatory body that any product produced, manufactured, marketed or distributed at any time by the Company or any Company subsidiary (the "Parent Products") is defective or fails to meet any applicable standards promulgated by any such governmental or regulatory body, or any other governmental or regulatory body, agency or office of any other jurisdiction to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject, (ii) there have been no recalls, field notifications or seizures ordered or threatened by the FDA or any other comparable governmental or regulatory body with respect to any of the Parent Production and (iii) none of the

3331279.05 -30-

Parent or the Parent subsidiaries have received any warning letter, Section 305 notices from the FDA or so-called Section 483 notices of adverse observations (or comparable notices from such other governmental or regulatory bodies).

- (b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, with respect to each Parent Product: (i) the Parent and its subsidiaries have obtained all applicable Licenses to permit the manufacturing, distribution, sale (including reimbursement and pricing), marketing, export, import or human research (including clinical and non-clinical trials) of such Product and (ii) Parent and its subsidiaries are in full compliance with all terms and conditions of each License in each country in which such Parent Product is marketed, and with all requirements pertaining to the manufacturing (including current good manufacturing practices), marketing, export, import or human research (including good laboratory practices and clinical and non-clinical trials) of such Parent Product which is not required to be the subject of a License.
- (c) There are no impediments to issuance of any Parent FDA premarket approval application ("PMA") as to which Parent has received an approvable letter from the FDA other than those set forth in any so-called Section 483 Notices described in the Parent Disclosure Schedule, and Parent is not aware of any reason why it will be unable to address to the FDA's satisfaction all observations contained in such Notices.
- SECTION 3.19 Interested Party Transactions. Since the date of Parent's 1998 proxy statement, other than as described therein, no event has occurred that would be required to be reported as a Certain Relationship or Related Transaction, pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.
- SECTION 3.20 Financial Capacity. Parent has available sufficient funds to satisfy its obligations to pay the Cash Consideration for all the Shares.
- SECTION 3.21 Opinion of Financial Advisor. Parent has received the opinion of its financial advisor, Hambrecht & Quist, LLC, that, as of the date hereof, the Merger Consideration is fair to Parent from a financial point of view.
- SECTION 3.22 *Brokers*. No broker, finder or investment banker (other than Hambrecht & Quist, LLC, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Parent) is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub.
 - SECTION 3.23 Ownership of Merger Sub; No Prior Activities.
- (a) Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) As of the date hereof and the Effective Time, except for obligations or liabilities incurred in connection with its incorporation or organization and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and except for this Agreement and any other agreements or arrangements contemplated by this Agreement, Merger Sub has not and will not have incurred, directly or indirectly, through any subsidiary or affiliate, any obligations or liabilities or engaged in any business activities of any type or kind whatsoever or entered into any agreements or arrangements with any person.

ARTICLE IV

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS PENDING THE MERGER

SECTION 4.1 Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger. The Company covenants and agrees that, during the period from the date of this Agreement and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement or the Effective Time, unless Parent shall otherwise agree in writing and except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, the Company shall conduct its business and shall cause the businesses of its subsidiaries to be conducted in the ordinary course of business; and the Company shall use all reasonable commercial efforts to preserve substantially intact the business organization of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, to keep available the services of the present officers, employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole and to preserve the present relationships of the Company and its subsidiaries with customers, suppliers and other persons with which the Company or any of its subsidiaries has significant business relations. By way of amplification and not limitation, except as contemplated by this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries shall, during the period from the date of this Agreement and continuing until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement or the Effective Time, directly or indirectly do, or propose to do, any of the following without the prior written consent of Parent:

- (a) amend or otherwise change the Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
- (b) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, any shares of capital stock of any class, or any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights of any kind to acquire any shares of capital stock, or any other ownership interest (including, without limitation, any phantom interest) in the Company or any of its subsidiaries, except that the Company may grant options for Company Common Stock under the Company Stock Plan to newly hired employees in the ordinary course of business in an amount not in excess of 100,000 shares in the aggregate and the Company may issue shares of Company Common Stock upon the exercise of options, warrants and other rights listed in Section 2.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
- (c) sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (except for (i) sales of assets in the ordinary course of business and in a manner consistent with past

-32-

- practice, (ii) dispositions of obsolete or worthless assets, and (iii) sales of other assets not in excess of \$100,000 in the aggregate);
- (d) (i) declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in respect of any of its capital stock, except that a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company may declare and pay a dividend to its parent, (ii) split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize or propose the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, or (iii) amend the terms or change the period of exercisability of, purchase, repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or permit any subsidiary to purchase, repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any of its securities or any securities of its subsidiaries, including, without limitation, shares of Company Common Stock or any option, warrant or right, directly or indirectly, to acquire shares of Company Common Stock, or propose to do any of the foregoing; provided, however, that the Company may enter into agreements with holders of Stock Options in which they waive any right to accelerated vesting of the Stock Options in exchange for a promise by the Company that any substitute stock option for Parent Common Stock will become immediately exercisable in the event the Company terminates the holder's employment following the Merger without cause;
- (e) (i) acquire (by merger, consolidation, or acquisition of stock or assets) any corporation, partnership or other business organization or division thereof; (ii) incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or issue any debt securities or assume, guarantee or endorse or otherwise as an accommodation become responsible for, the obligations of any person or, except in each case in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, make any loans or advances; (iii) enter into or amend any contract or agreement that would be material to the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; (iv) authorize any capital expenditures or purchase of fixed assets which are, in the aggregate, in excess of \$100,000 for the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; or (v) enter into or amend any contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement to effect any of the matters prohibited by this Section 4.1(e);
- (f) (i) increase the compensation payable or to become payable to its executive officers, directors or employees except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (ii) grant any additional severance or termination pay to, or enter into any new employment or severance agreements with, any director, executive officer or current employee of the Company or its subsidiaries; (iii) enter into any employment or severance agreement with any new employees of the Company or its subsidiaries except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; or (iv) establish, adopt, enter into or amend any collective bargaining, profit sharing, thrift, restricted stock, pension, retirement, deferred compensation or severance plan, trust, fund or policy for the benefit of current or former directors, officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, except, in each case, as may be required by law;
- (g) except as required under generally accepted accounting principles, take any action to change in any material respect the accounting policies or procedures (including, without limitation, procedures with respect to revenue recognition, payments of accounts payable and collection of

accounts receivable) of the Company or any subsidiary (except in the case of subsidiaries to conform to the Company's policies and procedures);

- (h) make any material tax election inconsistent with past practice or settle or compromise any material federal, state, local or foreign tax liability or agree to an extension of a statute of limitations;
- (i) pay, discharge or satisfy any claims, liabilities or obligations (absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise) material to the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice of liabilities reflected or reserved against in the financial statements contained in the Company SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement or incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; or
- (j) take, or agree in writing or otherwise to take, any of the actions described in Sections 4.1 (a) through (i) above.

SECTION 4.2 No Solicitation.

- (a) The Company shall not, directly or indirectly, through any officer, director, employee, representative or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (i) solicit, initiate or encourage the initiation of any inquiries or proposals regarding any merger, sale of substantial assets, sale of shares of capital stock (including without limitation by way of a tender offer) or similar transactions involving the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company other than the Merger (any of the foregoing inquiries or proposals being referred to herein as an "Acquisition Proposal"), (ii) engage in negotiations or discussions concerning, or provide any nonpublic information to any person relating to, any Acquisition Proposal or (iii) agree to, approve or recommend any Acquisition Proposal. Nothing contained in this Section 4.2(a) shall prevent the Board of Directors of the Company from considering, negotiating, approving and recommending to the stockholders of the Company a bona fide Acquisition Proposal not solicited in violation of this Agreement, provided the Board of Directors of the Company concludes in good faith that the Acquisition Proposal would constitute a Superior Proposal (as defined below) and determines in good faith (upon advice of outside counsel) that it is required to do so in order to discharge properly its fiduciary duties.
- (b) The Company shall immediately notify Parent after receipt of any Acquisition Proposal, or any modification of or amendment to any Acquisition Proposal, or any request for nonpublic information relating to the Company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with an Acquisition Proposal or for access to the properties, books or records of the Company or any subsidiary by any person or entity that informs the Board of Directors of the Company or such subsidiary that it is considering making, or has made, an Acquisition Proposal. Such notice to Parent shall be made orally and in writing, and shall identify the person or entity making the Acquisition Proposal and set forth the material terms and condition of the Acquisition Payment. The notice shall also indicate whether the Company is providing or intends to provide the person making the Acquisition Proposal with access to information concerning the Company as provided in Section 4.2(c).

3331279.05 -34-

- (c) If the Board of Directors of the Company receives a request for material nonpublic information by a person who makes, or indicates that it is considering making, a bona fide Acquisition Proposal, and the Board of Directors determines in good faith and upon the advice of independent counsel that it is required to cause the Company to act as provided in this Section 4.2(c) in order to discharge properly the directors' fiduciary duties, then, provided the person making the Acquisition Proposal has executed a confidentiality agreement substantially similar to the one then in effect between the Company and Parent, the Company may provide such person with access to information regarding the Company.
- (d) The Company shall ensure that the officers and directors of the Company and its subsidiaries and any investment banker or other advisor or representative retained by the Company are aware of the restrictions described in this Section 4.2.
- (e) For purposes of this Agreement, "Superior Proposal" means a bona fide Acquisition Proposal that the Board of Directors of the Company determines in its good faith judgment to be more favorable to the Company's stockholders than the Merger (based on the written opinion, with only customary qualifications, of the Company's independent financial advisor that the value of the consideration of the Company's stockholders provided for in such proposal exceeds the value of the consideration to the Company's stockholders provided for in the Merger) and for which financing, to the extent required, is then committed or which, in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company (based on the written advice of the Company's independent financial advisor), is reasonably capable of being obtained by the person making the proposal.

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

SECTION 5.1 HSR Act. As promptly as practicable after the date of the execution of this Agreement, if required, the Company and Parent shall file notifications under and in accordance with the HSR Act in connection with the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby and respond as promptly as practicable to any inquiries received from the Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice for additional information or documentation and respond as promptly as practicable to all inquiries and requests received from any State Attorney General or other governmental authority in connection with antitrust matters.

SECTION 5.2 Joint Proxy Statement Prospectus; Registration Statement. As promptly as practicable after the execution of this Agreement, the Company and Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC preliminary proxy materials which shall constitute the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus and the Registration Statement of the Parent with respect to the Parent Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Merger. As promptly as practicable after comments are received from the SEC thereon and after the furnishing by the Company and

3331279.05 -35-

Parent of all information required to be contained therein, the Company and Parent shall file with the SEC a combined proxy and Registration Statement on Form S-4 (or on such other form as shall be appropriate) relating to the adoption of this Agreement and approval of the transactions contemplated hereby by the stockholders of the Company and the approval by the stockholders of Parent to increase the number of authorized shares of Parent Company Stock and the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger pursuant to this Agreement, and shall use all reasonable efforts to cause the Registration Statement to become effective, and to mail the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus to their respective shareholders, as soon thereafter as practicable. The Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus shall include the recommendation of the Boards of Directors of the Company and Parent in favor of the Merger, subject to the last sentence of Section 5.3.

SECTION 5.3 Stockholders Meetings. The Company and Parent shall call and hold their respective Stockholders Meetings as promptly as practicable and in accordance with applicable laws for the purpose of voting upon the approval of the Merger and the issuance of the Parent Common Stock, and Parent and the Company shall use their reasonable best efforts to hold the Stockholders Meetings on the same day (and at the same time of such day) and as soon as practicable after the date on which the Registration Statement becomes effective. Unless otherwise required under the applicable fiduciary duties of the respective directors of the Company or Parent, as determined by such respective directors in good faith after consultation with and based upon the advice of their respective outside legal counsel, the Company and Parent shall use all reasonable efforts to solicit from their respective stockholders proxies in favor of adoption of this Agreement and approval of the transactions contemplated hereby or the issuance of Parent Company Stock in the Merger pursuant to this Agreement, as the case may be, and shall take all other action reasonably necessary or advisable to secure the vote or consent of stockholders to obtain such approvals.

SECTION 5.4 Access to Information; Confidentiality. Upon reasonable notice and subject to restrictions contained in confidentiality agreements to which such party is subject (from which such party shall use reasonable efforts to be released), the Company and Parent shall each (and shall cause each of their subsidiaries to) afford to the officers, employees, accountants, counsel and other representatives of the other, reasonable access, during the period to the Effective Time, to all of its properties, books, contracts, commitments and records and, during such prior period, the Company and Parent each shall (and shall cause each of their subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to the other all information concerning its business, properties and personnel as such other party may reasonably request, and each shall make available to the other the appropriate individuals (including attorneys, accountants and other professionals) for discussion of the other's business, properties and personnel as either Parent or the Company may reasonably request. Each party shall keep such information confidential in accordance with the terms of the mutual non-disclosure letter, dated August, 1998 (the "Confidentiality Letter"), between Parent and the Company.

SECTION 5.5 Consents; Approvals. The Company and Parent shall each use all reasonable efforts to obtain all consents, waivers, approvals, authorizations or orders (including,

3331279.05 -36-

without limitation, all United States and foreign governmental and regulatory rulings and approvals), and the Company and Parent shall make all filings (including, without limitation, all filings with United States and foreign governmental or regulatory agencies) required in connection with the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and Parent and the consummation by them of the transactions contemplated hereby, in each case as promptly as practicable. The Company and Parent shall furnish promptly all information required to be included in the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus and the Registration Statement, or for any application or other filing to be made pursuant to the rules and regulations of any United States or foreign governmental body in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

SECTION 5.6 Agreements with Respect to Affiliates. The Company shall deliver to Parent, prior to the date the Registration Statement becomes effective under the Securities Act, a letter (the "Affiliate Letter") identifying all persons who are, and at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting are expected to be, "affiliates" of the Company, for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act ("Rule 145"). The Company shall use its best efforts to cause each person who is identified as an "affiliate" in the Affiliate Letter to deliver, prior to the Effective Time, a written agreement (an "Affiliate Agreement") in substantially the form of Exhibit 5.6(a).

SECTION 5.7 Indemnification and Insurance.

- (a) The Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation shall contain the provisions with respect to indemnification set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company, which provisions shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified for a period of six years from the Effective Time in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of individuals who at or before the Effective Time were directors, officers, employees or agents of the Company, unless such modification is required by law.
- (b) The Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law or under the Company's Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws and regardless of whether the Merger becomes effective, indemnify and hold harmless and, after the Effective Time, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law or under the Surviving Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws, indemnify and hold harmless, each present and former director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") against any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages, liabilities and amounts paid in settlement in connection with any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, (x) arising out of or pertaining to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (y) otherwise with respect to any acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, to the same extent as provided in the Company's Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws or any applicable contract or agreement as in effect on the date hereof, in each case for a period of six years after the date hereof. In the event of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before or after the Effective Time), (i) any counsel retained by

the Indemnified Parties for any period after the Effective Time shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Surviving Corporation, (ii) after the Effective Time, Parent or the Surviving Corporation shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of such counsel, promptly after statements therefor are received, and (iii) Parent and the Surviving Corporation will cooperate in the defense of any such matter; provided, however, that neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation shall be liable for any settlement effected without its written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld); and provided, further, that, in the event that any claim or claims for indemnification are asserted or made within such six-year period, all rights to indemnification in respect of any such claim or claims shall continue until the disposition of any and all such claims. The Indemnified Parties as a group may retain only one law firm to represent them with respect to any single action unless there is, under applicable standards of professional conduct, a conflict on any significant issue between the positions of any two or more Indemnified Parties.

- (c) Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall honor and fulfill in all respects the obligations of the Company pursuant to indemnification agreements with the Company's directors and officers existing at or before the Effective Time.
- (d) For a period of three years after the Effective Time, Parent shall maintain or cause the Surviving Corporation to maintain in effect, if available, directors' and officers' liability insurance covering those persons who are currently covered by the Company's directors' and officers' liability insurance policy (a copy of which has been made available to Parent) on terms comparable to those now applicable to directors and officers of the Company; provided, however, that in no event shall Parent or the Surviving Corporation be required to expend in excess of 150% of the annual premium currently paid by the Company for such coverage; and provided further, that if the premium for such coverage exceeds such amount, Parent or the Surviving Corporation shall purchase a policy with the greatest coverage available for such 150% of the annual premium.
- (e) This Section 5.7 shall survive the consummation of the Merger at the Effective Time, is intended to benefit the Company, the Surviving Corporation and the Indemnified Parties, shall be binding on all successors and assigns of Parent and the Surviving Corporation and shall be enforceable by the Indemnified Parties, their heirs and their representatives.

SECTION 5.8 Notification of Certain Matters. The Company shall give prompt notice to Parent, and Parent shall give prompt notice to the Company, of (i) the occurrence or nonoccurrence of any event known to such party the occurrence or nonoccurrence of which would be likely to cause any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement to become materially untrue or inaccurate, or (ii) any failure of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub, as the case may be, materially to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder; provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies available hereunder to the party receiving such notice; and provided further that failure to give such notice shall not be

3331279.05 -38-

treated as a breach of covenant for the purposes of Sections 6.2(a) or 6.3(a) unless the failure to give such notice results in material prejudice to the other party.

SECTION 5.9 Further Action/Tax Treatment. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof each of the parties hereto shall use all reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all other things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, to obtain in a timely manner all necessary waivers, consents and approvals and to effect all necessary registrations and filings, and otherwise to satisfy or cause to be satisfied all conditions precedent to its obligations under this Agreement. The foregoing covenant shall not include any obligation by Parent to agree to divest, abandon, license or take similar action with respect to any assets (tangible or intangible) of Parent or the Company. Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts (which shall not include increasing the Merger Consideration or the Stock Consideration or the Per Share Stock Consideration) to cause the Merger to qualify, and will not (both before and after consummation of the Merger) take any actions which to its knowledge would reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger from qualifying as a reorganization under the provisions of Section 368 of the Code. Following the Merger, Parent will cause the Surviving Corporation to continue the Company's historic business or use a significant portion of the Company's historic business assets in a business.

SECTION 5.10 *Public Announcements*. Parent and the Company shall consult with each other before issuing any press release with respect to the Merger or this Agreement and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement without the prior consent of the other party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld; *provided, however*, that a party may, without the prior consent of the other party, issue such press release or make such public statement as may upon the advice of counsel be required by law or the rules and regulations of the Nasdaq National Market System, if it has used all reasonable efforts to consult with the other party prior thereto.

SECTION 5.11 Accountants' Letters. Upon reasonable notice from the other, Parent and the Company shall use their respective best efforts to cause Deloitte & Touche LLP and Arthur Andersen LLP, respectively, to deliver to Parent or the Company, as the case may be, a letter, dated within 2 business days of the Effective Date of the S-4 Registration Statement covering such matters as are requested by Parent or the Company and as are customarily addressed in accountant's "comfort" letters.

SECTION 5.12 Board Representation. As of the Effective Time or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Board of Directors of Parent will take such action as is necessary to cause Glenn Bradley to be elected to serve as a director of Parent for the vacant term expiring at Parent's annual meeting in 2000 (the "Outside Director"), and Randy W. Frey to be elected as a director of Parent for the vacant term expiring at Parent's annual meeting in 2001. The Board of Directors of Parent will nominate the Outside Director for re-election at Parent's annual meeting in 2000, provided that such Outside Director (x) is "independent" as such term is applied under

3331279.05 -39-

the listing requirements for the Nasdaq National Market and (y) shall have attended at least 75% of all meetings of the Board of Directors, by telephone or in person, during the previous fiscal year. In addition, one person designated by the Company prior to the mailing of the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus, subject to the reasonable approval of Parent, shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Board of Directors until the third anniversary of the Effective Time, subject to the Board's right to have portions of any such meeting open only to members of the Board. If the observer named in the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus is unable to continue as an observer until the end of the term, Parent agrees that the directors named by the Company may designate a replacement. Parent agrees to pay the observer's reasonable travel expenses in connection with the observer's attendance at Board meetings.

SECTION 5.13 Nasdaq Listing. Each of the Company and Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to continue the quotation of the Company Common Stock and Parent Common Stock, respectively, on The Nasdaq National Market during the term of this Agreement.

SECTION 5.14 *Listing of Parent Shares*. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Parent Shares to be issued in the Merger to be approved for quotation, upon official notice of issuance, on The Nasdaq National Market.

SECTION 5.15 Joint Shareholder Communications Efforts. The Company and Parent agree to use their reasonable best efforts to conduct a joint communications program, including presentations and meetings, with institutional stockholders of both the Company and Parent, for the purpose of communicating the synergy, strategy and prospects for the combined companies after the Merger. Such presentations and meetings shall take place in those cities of the United States where such institutional stockholders are located and shall be conducted for 7 to 10 business days during the three-week period preceding the Stockholder Meetings.

SECTION 5.16 Dismissal of Civil Actions. As soon as practicable after the date hereof, the Company shall stipulate to the dismissal, without prejudice, of all claims it has alleged against Parent and Pillar Point Partners in <u>Autonomous Technologies Corporation</u> v. <u>Pillar Point Partners</u> (Civil Action No. 96-515 JJF).

SECTION 5.17 Issuance of CIBA Shares. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall issue 171,713 shares (subject to any required anti-dilution adjustments) of Company Common Stock to CIBA Vision Group Management, Inc. ("CIBA") in full satisfaction of its obligation to deliver shares of capital stock under the Strategic Alliance Agreement dated May 15, 1995 between the Company and CIBA.

3331279.05 -40-

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

SECTION 6.1 Conditions to Obligation of Each Party to Effect the Merger. The respective obligations of each party to effect the Merger shall be subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:

- (a) Effectiveness of the Registration Statement. The Registration Statement shall have been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued by the SEC and no proceedings for that purpose and no similar proceeding in respect of the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus shall have been initiated or threatened by the SEC;
- (b) Stockholder Approval. This Agreement and the Merger shall have been approved and adopted by the requisite vote of the stockholders of the Company and the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger pursuant to this Agreement shall have been approved by the requisite vote of the stockholders of Parent;
- (c) HSR Act. The waiting period, if any, applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated;
- (d) No Injunctions or Restraints. No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition preventing the consummation of the Merger shall be in effect, nor shall any proceeding brought by any administrative agency or commission or other governmental authority or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, seeking any of the foregoing be pending; and
- (e) Nasdaq. The Parent Shares to be issued in the Merger shall have been approved, upon official notice of issuance, for quotation on The Nasdaq National Market.

SECTION 6.2 Additional Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub. The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger are also subject to the following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects at and as of the Effective Time as if made at and as of such time, except for (i) changes contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which shall have been true and correct as of such date with the same force and effect as if made at and as of the Effective Time), and Parent and Merger Sub shall have received a certificate to such effect signed on behalf of the Company by the President and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company;

- (b) Agreements and Covenants. The Company shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it at or prior to the Effective Time, and Parent and Merger Sub shall have received a certificate to such effect signed on behalf of the Company by the President and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company;
- (c) Consents Obtained. All consents, waivers, approvals, authorizations or orders required to be obtained, and all filings required to be made, by the Company for the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained and made by the Company;
- (d) Tax Opinion. Unless the Merger shall be restructured as the Alternative Taxable Merger, Parent shall have received a written opinion from Ropes & Gray, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent, to the effect that the Merger will constitute a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368 of the Code;
- (e) Affiliate Agreements. Parent shall have received from each person who is identified in the Affiliate Letter as an "affiliate" of the Company, an Affiliate Agreement, and such Affiliate Agreement shall be in full force and effect;
- (f) No Litigation. There shall not be pending or threatened any suit, action, proceeding or investigation: (i) challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) relating to the Merger and seeking to obtain from Parent or any of its subsidiaries any damages that may be material to Parent: (iii) seeking to prohibit or limit in any material respect Parent's ability to vote, receive dividends with respect to or otherwise exercise ownership rights with respect to the stock of the Surviving Corporation; (iv) that would materially and adversely affect the right of the Surviving Corporation to own the assets or operate the business of the Company (v) which, if adversely determined, could have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or Parent.
- (g) Stockholders Agreement. The Stockholders Agreements shall be in full force and effect as of the Effective Time.
- SECTION 6.3 Additional Conditions to Obligation of the Company. The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is also subject to the following conditions:
- (a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the Effective Time, except for (i) changes contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which shall have been true and correct as of such date) with the same force and effect as if made on and as of

the Effective Time, and the Company shall have received a certificate to such effect signed on behalf of Parent by the President and the Chief Financial Officer of Parent;

- (b) Agreements and Covenants. Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them on or prior to the Effective Time, and the Company shall have received a certificate to such effect signed on behalf of Parent by the President and the Chief Financial Officer of Parent;
- (c) Consents Obtained. All consents, waivers, approvals, authorizations or orders required to be obtained, and all filings required to be made, by Parent and Merger Sub for the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation by them of the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained and made by Parent and Merger Sub;

ARTICLE VII

TERMINATION

SECTION 7.1 *Termination*. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time, notwithstanding approval thereof by the stockholders of the Company or Parent:

- (a) by mutual written consent duly authorized by the Boards of Directors of Parent and the Company; or
- (b) by either Parent or the Company, if the Merger shall not have been consummated by February 28, 1999 (provided that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(b) shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of or resulted in the failure of the Merger to occur on or before such date); or
- (c) by either Parent or the Company, if a court of competent jurisdiction or governmental, regulatory or administrative agency or commission shall have issued a nonappealable final order, decree or ruling or taken any other action having the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger (provided that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(c) shall not be available to any party who has not complied with its obligations under Section 5.9 and such noncompliance materially contributed to the issuance of any such order, decree or ruling or the taking of such action); or
- (d) by Parent, if the requisite vote of the stockholders of the Company shall not have been obtained by February 28, 1999, or by the Company, if the requisite vote of the stockholders of Parent shall not have been obtained by February 28, 1999 (provided that this right shall not be available to any party who has not complied with its obligation under Section 5.3); or

-43-

- (e) by Parent, if: (i) the Board of Directors of the Company shall withdraw, modify or change its approval or recommendation of this Agreement or the Merger in a manner adverse to Parent or shall have resolved to do so; (ii) the Board of Directors of the Company shall have recommended to the stockholders of the Company an Alternative Transaction (as defined below); or (iii) a tender offer or exchange offer for 25% or more of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock is commenced (other than by Parent or an affiliate of Parent) and the Board of Directors of the Company either fails to recommend that the stockholders of the Company not tender their shares in such tender or exchange offer or takes no position on the acceptance of the tender or exchange offer; or
- (f) by the Company, if the Board of Directors of the Company shall have determined to recommend an Acquisition Proposal to its stockholders after determining, pursuant to Section 4.2 that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal, and the Company gives Parent at least three Business Days prior notice of its intention to effect such termination pursuant to this subsection, and the Company makes the payment required pursuant to Section 7.3(b) of this Agreement;
- (g) by Parent, (i) if any representation or warranty of the Company set forth in this Agreement that is qualified by materiality was not true when made or if any such representation or warranty not qualified by materiality was not true in all material respects when made, or (ii) upon the Company's material breach of any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, such that the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b) would not be satisfied, or by the Company, (x) if any representation or warranty of Parent set forth in this Agreement that is qualified by materiality was not true when made or if any such representation or warranty not qualified by materiality was not true in all material respects when made, or (y) upon Parent's material breach of any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement, such that the conditions set forth in Section 6.3(a) or 6.3(b) would not be satisfied (any of such events being referred to as a "Terminating Breach"), provided, that, the non-breaching party shall have given the breaching party at least 10 business days' prior notice and provided, further, that if such Terminating Breach is curable prior to February 28, 1999 by the breaching party through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts and for so long as the breaching party continues to exercise such reasonable best efforts, the non-breaching party may not terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(g); or
- (h) by Parent, if any representation or warranty of the Company shall have become untrue such that the condition set forth in Section 6.2(a) would not be satisfied, or by the Company, if any representation or warranty of Parent shall have become untrue such that the condition set forth in Section 6.3(a) would not be satisfied, in either case other than by reason of a Terminating Breach and after 10 business days' prior written notice.

As used herein, "Alternative Transaction" means any of (i) a transaction pursuant to which any person (or group of persons) other than Parent or its affiliates (a "Third Party") acquires or would acquire more than 25% of the outstanding Shares, whether from the Company or pursuant

3331279.05 -44-

to a tender offer or exchange offer or otherwise, (ii) a merger or other business combination involving the Company pursuant to which any Third Party acquires more than 25% of the outstanding equity securities of the Company or the entity surviving such merger or business combination, or (iii) any other transaction pursuant to which any Third Party acquires or would acquire control of assets (including for this purpose the outstanding equity securities of subsidiaries of the Company, and the entity surviving any merger or business combination including any of them) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries having a fair market value (as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in good faith) equal to more than 25% of the fair market value of all the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, immediately prior to such transaction.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the staff of the SEC reviews the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus or if any administrative agency or commission or other governmental authority or instrumentality shall have instituted an inquiry, either formal or informal, into the Merger, Parent may by written notice to the Company extend the February 28, 1999 date in this Section 7.1 for up to 30 additional days provided that (i) Parent is not in breach in any material respect of its obligations under this Agreement and (ii) Parent agrees to extend credit to the Company under its revolving credit line with Parent in additional amounts not to exceed \$1,500,000 during the period of any extension.

SECTION 7.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto or any of its affiliates, directors, officers or stockholders except (i) as set forth in Section 7.3 and Section 8.1 hereof, and (ii) nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any willful breach hereof prior to such termination.

SECTION 7.3 Fees and Expenses.

- (a) Except as set forth in this Section 7.3, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated; *provided, however*, that Parent and the Company shall share equally all fees and expenses, other than accountants' and attorneys' fees, incurred in connection with the printing and filing of the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus (including any preliminary materials related thereto) and the Registration Statement (including financial statements and exhibits) and any amendments or supplements thereto.
- (b) The Company shall pay Parent a fee of \$2,600,000 (the "Company Fee") upon the first to occur of the following events:
 - (i) the termination of this Agreement by Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(d) if the stockholders of the Company shall not have approved and adopted the Merger Agreement by February 28, 1999 and a proposal for an Alternative Transaction shall have been made prior to the Company Stockholders Meeting; or

-45-

- (ii) the termination of this Agreement by Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(e) or the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(f); or
- (iii) the termination of this Agreement by Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(g) on account of a Terminating Breach by the Company.

ARTICLE VIII

GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 8.1 Effectiveness of Representations, Warranties and Agreements; Knowledge, Etc.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 8.1, the representations, warranties and agreements of each party hereto shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of any other party hereto, any person controlling any such party or any of their officers or directors, whether prior to or after the execution of this Agreement. The representations, warranties and agreements in this Agreement shall terminate at the Effective Time or upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1, as the case may be, except that the agreements set forth in Article I and Section 5.7 shall survive the Effective Time indefinitely and those set forth in Section 7.3 shall survive such termination indefinitely. The Confidentiality Letter shall survive termination of this Agreement as provided therein.
- (b) Reference to a party's "knowledge" in this Agreement refers to the actual knowledge of the directors and officers of that party who are required to file reports under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

SECTION 8.2 *Notices.* All notices and other communications given or made pursuant hereto shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given or made if and when delivered personally or by overnight courier to the parties at the following addresses or sent by facsimile transmission, with confirmation received and a copy placed in the United States mail to the following addresses, to the telecopy numbers specified below (or at such other address or telecopy number for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

(a) If to Parent or Merger Sub:

Attention: General Counsel

Telephone No.: (781) 890-1234 Telecopier No.: (781) 890-6739

With a copy to:

Keith F. Higgins, Esq. Ropes & Gray One International Place Boston, MA 02110

Telephone No.: (617) 951-7000 Telecopier No.: (617) 951-7050

(b) If to the Company:

Attention: President

Telephone No.: (407) 384-1600 Telecopier No.: (407) 277-0047

With a copy to:

William A. Grimm, Esq. Gray, Harrison & Robinson, P.A. 201 East Pine Street, Suite 1200 Orlando, FL 37801

Telephone No.: (407) 843-8880 Telecopier No.: (407) 244-5690

SECTION 8.3 Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the term:

(a) "affiliates" means a person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the first mentioned person; including, without limitation, any partnership or joint venture in which the first mentioned person (either alone, or through or together with any other subsidiary) has, directly or indirectly, an interest of 5% or more;

- (b) "beneficial owner" with respect to any shares of Company Common Stock means a person who shall be deemed to be the beneficial owner of such shares (as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act);
- (c) "business day" means any day other than a day on which banks in The Commonwealth of Massachusetts are required or authorized to be closed;
- (d) "control" (including the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly or as trustee or executor, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a person, whether through the ownership of stock, as trustee or executor, by contract or credit arrangement or otherwise;
- (e) "generally accepted accounting principles" shall mean United States generally accepted accounting principles.
- (f) "person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, association, trust, unincorporated organization, other entity or group (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act); and
- (g) "subsidiary" or "subsidiaries" of the Company, Parent or any other person means any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other legal entity of which the Company, the Surviving Corporation, Parent or such other person, as the case may be (either alone or through or together with any other subsidiary), owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the stock or other equity interests the holders of which are generally entitled to vote for the election of the board of directors or other governing body of such corporation or other legal entity.
- SECTION 8.4 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto by action taken by or on behalf of their respective Boards of Directors at any time prior to the Effective Time; provided, however, that, after approval of the Merger by the stockholders of the Company, no amendment may be made which by law requires further approval by such stockholders without such further approval. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto.
- SECTION 8.5 Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, any party hereto may with respect to any other party hereto (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto, or (c) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby.

SECTION 8.6 *Headings*. The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference, purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

SECTION 8.7 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the fullest extent possible.

SECTION 8.8 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and undertakings (other than the Confidentiality Letters), both written and oral, among the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof.

SECTION 8.9 Assignment; Guarantee of Merger Sub Obligations. This Agreement shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise, except that Merger Sub may assign all or any of its rights hereunder to any wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent provided that no such assignment shall relieve the assigning party of its obligations hereunder. Parent guarantees the full and punctual performance by Merger Sub of all the obligations hereunder of Merger Sub or any such assignees.

SECTION 8.10 Parties in Interest. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party hereto, and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement, including, without limitation, by way of subrogation, other than Section 5.7 (which is intended to be for the benefit of the Indemnified Parties and may be enforced by such Indemnified Parties).

SECTION 8.11 Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in the exercise of any right hereunder shall impair such right or be construed to be a waiver of, or acquiescence in, any breach of any representation, warranty or agreement herein, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other right. All rights and remedies existing under this Agreement are cumulative to, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies otherwise available.

SECTION 8.12 *Governing Law*. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts executed and fully performed within the State of Delaware.

SECTION 8.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

3331279.05 -49-

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

SUMMIT TECHNOLOGI, INC.
By: Name: Title:
ALPINE ACQUISITION CORP.
By: Name: Title:
AUTONOMOUS TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
By: Name:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

SUMMIT TECHNOLOGY, INC.
By: Rds Malms re Name: Title:
ALPINE ACQUISITION CORP. By: Name: Title:
AUTONOMOUS TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
By: Name: Title:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.